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V.

SLOCUM GORDON, & Co.; JOHN J.
SLOCUM JR ; and JEFFREY L. GORDON

Def endant s.

DECI SI ON AND ORDER

Ronal d R Lagueux, Senior United States District Judge

The Plaintiff in this case, the Securities and Exchange
Comm ssion (“SEC’ or “Comm ssion”) brought a civil suit against
the investnent firmof Slocum Gordon, & Co. (“S&&C’') and its two
foundi ng partners, John J. Slocum Jr. (“Slocunt) and Jeffrey L.
Gordon (“Gordon”). The Commi ssion’s chief allegation against
these Defendants is that they defrauded both the SEC and their
clients between the years 1996 and 2000 through a practice
comonly called “cherry picking,” whereby certain stocks were
initially purchased for clients and later re-allocated to the
S&C firmaccount if the stocks went up in value prior to the
settl enent date.

In addition to the Comm ssion’s cherry picking allegations,
the SEC clai ns that Defendants engaged in fraudul ent or deceptive
conduct by a registered investnent advisor by inproperly

comm ngling client funds and securities with firmfunds and



securities, breaching its record-keeping requirenents, and making
material m srepresentations and om ssions, both in interactions
with clients and in filings with the SEC. According to the

Commi ssi on, Defendants’ conduct and office practices resulted in
violations of federal securities |aws. The SEC al so asserts
separate cl ai ns agai nst Defendants Sl ocum and Gordon, all eging
that they individually aided and abetted all securities
violations committed by their firm?

These various clainms make up an eight count conplaint filed
by the Comm ssion, alleging violations of the Securities Act of
1933 (“Securities Act”), 15 U S.C. 8 77(q)(a), the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act”) 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b), and the
| nvest ment Advi sers Act of 1940 (“Advisers Act”), 15 U.S.C. 88
80b-4, 80b-6(1)-(4), and 80b-7. The SEC al so all eges violations
of certain regulations pronul gated under these statutory
provisions. See 17 C.F.R 88 240.10b-5; 275.204-2(a)(3); and

275.206(4)-2(a)(2).°2

! Counts 1 and 2 are alleged against all three Defendants, S&C,
Sl ocum and Gordon. Counts 3, 4, and 5 are all eged only agai nst SG&C.
Count 6, regarding the ADV reports filed with the Conm ssion, is
al | eged agai nst SG&C and Gordon. Count 7, a claimalleging aiding and
abetting, is averred agai nst Defendants Sl ocum and Gordon. Count 8,
anot her aiding and abetting claimrelated to S&C s all eged
m srepresentati ons and omi ssions on ADV reports filed with the SEC is
al l eged as to Sl ocum al one.

2 The Conmi ssion’ s Conpl aint asserts eight counts of federal
securities violations agai nst the Defendants. Count 1 alleges
securities fraud in violation of Section 17(a) of the Securities Act.
See 15 U.S.C. 8 77q(a). Count 2 alleges securities fraud in violation
of Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act and Rule 10-b-5 thereunder. See
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Al t hough plead generically in the Conm ssion’s conplaint, it
is helpful for this witer to further catagorize these different
counts as they relate to the various forns of fraud all eged
agai nst Defendants. Counts 1 and 2 are counts under the anti -
fraud sections of the Securities Act and the Exchange Act, and
relate only to the SEC s allegations of securities fraud by way
of cherry picking favorable securities for the firms benefit.
Counts 3, 4, 5, and 6 are brought under the Advisers Act, and are
techni cal counts regardi ng organi zational structure of the firnms
account system its operation practices during the relevant tine
period, and the Defendants’ obligation as fiduciaries to disclose
material facts to their clients and the SEC. Counts 7 and 8 are
ai di ng and abetting counts, and, as such, only apply if liability
is found under one or nore of the other clains in the
Comm ssion’s conpl ai nt.

After conducting a trial in this case wthout a jury, and

then reviewing the trial testinony, exhibits, and the parties’

15 U.S.C. §8 78j(b); 17 CF.R § 240.10b-5. Count 3 alleges breach of
fiduciary duty in violation of Sections 206(1) and 206(2) of the

Advi sers Act. See 15 U.S.C. 88 80b-6(1) and 80b-6(2). Count 4
asserts fraudul ent or deceptive conduct by an investnent adviser in
violation of Section 206(4) of the Advisers Act and Rul e 206(4)-
2(a)(2) thereunder. See 15 U.S.C. § 80b-6(4); 17 C.F.R § 275.206(4)-
2(a)(2). Count 5 alleges failure to maintain required records of
securities transactions, in violation of Section 204 of the Advisers
Act and Rule 204-2(a)(3) thereunder. See 15 U. S.C. § 80b-4; 17 CF. R
§ 275.204-2(a)(3). GCount 6 asserts material msrepresentations and
om ssions in filings with the Commi ssion, in violation of Section 207
of the Advisers Act. See 15 U.S.C. 8§ 80b-7. Counts 7 and 8 are

ai ding and abetting counts agai nst Sl ocum and Gordon.

3



post-trial subm ssions, the Court now renders a decision in this
case. As to Counts 1, 2, 5, 6, 7, and 8, the Court finds that
the Comm ssion failed to neet its burden of proof, and renders a
deci sion on these counts in favor of Defendants. However, for

t he reasons articul ated herein, the Court finds in favor of the
Comm ssion on Count 4 and in part on Count 3. Based on the

evi dence submtted, the Court concludes that Defendants did

i nproperly comm ngle client funds and securities with firmfunds
and securities, in violation of Section 206(4) of the Advisers
Act and Rule 206(4)-2(a)(2) thereunder. See 15 U. S.C. § 80b-
6(4); 17 CF.R 8 275.206(4)-2(a)(2). A though this technica
violation was not willful, the Court finds that the comm ngling
of client and firmassets created a potential conflict of
interest, which Defendants, as fiduciaries, were required to
disclose to their clients regardless of their lack of intent to

defraud. See SEC v. Capital Gains Research Bureau, Inc., 375

U. S 180, 196-97(1963). As a result, the Court finds that

Def endants engaged in a course of business which “operated as a
fraud” upon their clients, in violation of Section 206(2) of the
Advi sers Act. 15 U.S.C. § 80b-6(2).

| . Bench Trial Standard

Foll ow ng a bench trial, “the court shall find the facts
specifically and state separately its conclusions of |aw

t hereon,” before proceeding to enter judgnent. Fed.R Cv.P.



52(a); see also Café La France, Inc. v. Schneider Securities,

Inc., 281 F. Supp.2d 361, 363 (D.R 1. 2003). In making its
factual findings, it is appropriate for the Court to weigh the
credibility of the witnesses presented. Fed.R Cv.P. 52(a); see

also Gautieri v. US., 167 F. Supp.2d 207, 209 (D.R 1. 2001).

Havi ng thus articulated the |legal standard, the Court proceeds to
make its findings of fact and concl usions of |aw based on the

evi dence presented.

1. Fi ndi ngs of Fact

Due to its inportance to the facts in this case, this witer
deens it necessary to explain the conpany infrastructure in place
at SG&C between 1996 and 2000 with great detail and specificity.
As a result, the Court’s findings of fact are bifurcated into two
sections. In Part One, the Court will find facts relating to the
establishment, operation, and account structure of SG&C duri ng
the relevant tine period. This section wll provide the
necessary background for understanding the technical issues in
this case. In Part Two, the Court will find facts relating to
the SEC s exam nation, investigation, and the specific

transactions before the Court for scrutiny.

PART ONE: BACKGROUND




A. The FirmProfile

S&EC is a small investnent advising firmregistered under
the federal Advisers Act, 15 U . S.C. § 80a-1 et seq., as anended.
The firms only office is located at 39 MII Street, Newport,
Rhode Island. Sl ocum and Gordon, the firms two founders, and
Def endants in this cause of action, established the investnent
conpany in late 1978 and registered it with the Conm ssion in
January 1979. Fromits inception, SGC was a small-scale, old-
fashi oned investnment firm seeking to provide personalized
i nvestnment services to the “mddle market,” or m d-sized,

i nvest ment accounts.

Over its years of operation, SGXC nmanaged i nvest nent
accounts for individual clients, famlies, and charitable
organi zations in the Newport area. The conpany al so handl ed
personal trades for firmpartners, forner partners, and their
close famly nmenbers. SG&C offered their clients many different
types of investnment services, ranging fromplacing trades to
paying bills. 1In some cases, SGC even prepared their clients’
tax returns. By offering custom zed services to neet their
i ndividual client’s needs, and | argely by word-of-nouth
advertising, S&&C was able to attract and retain a large client
base in the Newport area. Approximately 75 to 80 percent of the
firms revenue cane from providing portfolio managenent and ot her

services to clients.



In addition to these various client accounts, SG&C
mai ntai ned a firmtradi ng account (“trading account”), which
provided the remaining 25 to 20 percent of the firm s annual
revenue. The trading account benefitted the firm and, in turn,
the partners, who each received a percentage of the firm s annual
profits. In addition, profits gleaned fromthe tradi ng account
were used to offset errors made in client trades. Although al
i nvest ment advi sers working at SG&C had the opportunity to make
trades for the firmtrading account, only Sl ocum and Gordon
actually engaged in firmtrades.

B. Partners and Enpl oyees

At the tinme of trial, SG&C was conprised of three partners,
Sl ocum Gordon, and Barclay Douglas, Jr. (“Douglas”). A fourth
partner, Jane Lippincott (“Lippincott”), was also affiliated with
SG&C during part of the tine period at issue; however, she left
S&C to open her own investnent firmon January 2, 2000. 1In
addition to these partners, SG&C nai ntained two office enpl oyees
bet ween 1996 and 2000: LuAnn Shoenmaker (*Shoemaker”), the firms
Oper ati ons Manager, and Kinberly Stahm (“Stahni), a
secretary/receptionist.

1. | nvest nent Advi sing and Portfoli o Management

Al t hough S&&C s partners and enpl oyees descri bed thensel ves
as wearing many different hats in the course of their daily firm

activities, each person working for SGC had his or her own



i ndi vi dual responsibilities. Slocumand Gordon acted as
i nvestnment portfolio managers for the majority of the firms
client base between 1996 and 2000, and were al so responsible for
trades done for the firms benefit in its trading account. In
addition to these duties, Gordon was the firm s managi ng partner,
and was responsi ble for overseeing the firm s budget, dealing
with financial issues, and overseeing the firm s tax preparation
on an annual basis. Gordon was al so responsible for insuring SEC
conpliance by updating and filing the required ADV Formw th the
SEC annual | y.

During this tinme period, Lippincott also acted as an
i nvestnent portfolio manager for approximately ten percent of
S&C s client accounts. In addition to her work on these
accounts, Lippincott assisted Sl ocumin managi ng about a quarter
of his client accounts, prepared individual tax returns for
clients, and worked on creating a conputer database of corporate
research information comng into the firm Lippincott did not
engage in any securities trades for the firmduring her tenure as
a partner, and confined her trading activities to her client
accounts and personal accounts.

2. Firm Operati ons

Dougl as was the partner in charge of operations, and he
oversaw and managed the firm s operations departnent. Douglas

was responsible for maintaining firmaccounts, client accounts,



and recording all day-to-day transactions. He also oversaw the
firms record keeping and supervised the flow of cash from both
client accounts and the firms line of credit through its

cl earing account and custodi al account when the other partners
purchased firmor client securities. Between 1996 and 2000
Dougl as worked strictly in operations, and did not engage in any
formof securities trading for clients or the firm As a result,
he is not joined as a Defendant in this cause of action.

Al so assisting in SG&C s firm operations were Shoemaker and
Stahm  Shoenmaker, the firm s Operations Manager, worked under
Dougl as’ direction, and oversaw the settlenent of securities
transactions, distribution of funds to clients, and conmuni cat ed
wi th banks regarding both firmand client transactions. As
Oper ati ons Manager, Shoemaker handl ed t he paperwork associ at ed
with virtually every security transaction taking place at S&C
during the relevant tinme period. Stahm served as a secretary and
receptionist, and, although she would | end a hand as necessary,
she was not intimately involved in the firms operations. At the
time of trial, both Shoemaker and Stahm were still enpl oyees of
SGEC.

C. Trading Strategi es at SGC

During the time period in gquestion, SG&C enpl oyed two
different trading strategies for securities transactions

dependi ng on whether the trade was for clients or the firm



account. At trial, Defendants Sl ocum and Gordon outlined these
two distinct trading strategies in detail.

1. Trading for Cdients

Def endants Sl ocum and Gordon both testified that the
majority of their clients were generally interested in
conservative, long-terminvestnents. As a result, Slocum and
Gordon’s policy for client trades was to “buy on weakness and
sell on strength” after a significant holding period. At the
core of this philosophy was the concept of strategically
investing client funds to pronote returns while mnimzing risk.

To facilitate their long-termholding strategy for client
trades, Slocum and Gordon would follow the market constantly,
receiving information fromReuter’s, fromindividual stock
brokers, from periodicals, and from conversations wth | arger
investnment firns. Using these different sources, Slocum and
Gordon woul d scour the market seeking securities that were
appropriately positioned for long-terminvestnents in their
different clients’ accounts. Wen they determ ned that a
security was properly positioned for such a |ong-terminvestnent,
SGC woul d initiate a purchase for its clients.

Al t hough they both engaged in |ong-term hol dings for client
trades, the two partners used different nmethods for choosing
appropriate securities. This was largely due to the different

types of accounts and client needs at issue. The clients advised
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by Gordon were generally inconme-oriented, often requiring a
monthly remttance for their regul ar expenses. Accordingly,
Gordon was usually interested in securities with a high dividend
yield, and sonetines strategically purchased securities to take
advant age of ex-dividend dates. Gordon also tried to capitalize
on periods of market weakness, hoping to buy shares at a | ow
price and then sell later at a higher price. In contrast,

Sl ocumis client-base was nore grow h-oriented, and |ess focused
on receiving a nonthly remttance fromtheir stock investnents.
As a result, Slocum based his investnent decisions for clients on
research indicating that a conpany was in a solid, grow h-
oriented node. Wen a security fit this description, Slocum
woul d purchase a position for his clients tailored to neet their
i ndi vi dual needs regarding cash flow, tax consequences, interest,
and his client’s attitude towards ri sk.

Gordon testified that his client purchases were al ways
intended as long-terminvestnents, neaning that he would try to
buy a stock on weakness with the intention of holding the
security over an extended period until its price increased enough
to generate the desired rate of return. This desired rate of
return, according to Gordon, was typically in the nei ghborhood of
ten percent.

If a security began to rise in price nore quickly than

originally anticipated, thus achieving the desired rate of return
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after only a short period of time, the two investnent advisers
woul d sell the client security prematurely. Sl ocum expl ai ned
that he would sonmetines sell a client security earlier than he
originally intended if the stock began to decline in value or net
his price goals early. Gordon testified that regardl ess of the
reason to sell early, the investnent advisers considered such a
trade a “short-term holding” rather than a “short-termtrade.”
Sl ocum and Gordon both testified that they generally refrained
fromengaging in short-termtrades, also known as nonentum
trades, for nost clients, because they considered these trades
risky and contrary to the clients’ conservative investnent

goal s.® |Indeed, between the years 1996 and 2000, 98% of S&&C s
client trades were long term holdings. See Exhibit 8. During
the time period at issue, SG&C was very successful in its |ong-
termclient investnents, in sonme cases generating as nuch as a
95% return for their clients. See Defendants’ Post Tri al

Menor andum at 3.

2. Trading for the Firm

When trading for their firmaccount, however, SG&C

8 Slocum al so testified that a small nunber of his clients were
| ess risk-adverse, and would not have objected to short-termtrades
for their accounts. These clients were Slocumis famly nenbers, the
personal accounts of John Howard, a retired partner of SG&C, and
Howard' s wife. Slocumtestified that he occasionally placed short-
termtrades benefitting these accounts because it was within the
trading and ri sk paranmeters designated by those particular clients.

12



i nvestment advi sers enployed a different strategy. SG&C t ook
advant age of antici pated market surges by engaging in short-term
momentumtrades for their firmtrading account. Both Sl ocum and
Gordon testified that the decision to nmake a firmtrade was
event-driven. |If circunstances arose that |ed Sl ocum or Gordon
to anticipate that a particular conpany’ s stock was going to
suddenly go up in price, Slocumand Gordon would initiate a
purchase of the security for the firm s tradi ng account.

Both Sl ocum and Gordon testified that they relied on
publically available information in deciding to engage in a firm
trade. Although both investnent advisers enployed the sanme
short-term nonmentum phil osophy for firmtrading, Sl ocum and
Gordon enpl oyed sonmewhat different nethods for choosing which
securities to purchase. Slocumtestified that while both he and
Gordon generally engaged in the sane type of trading for the firm
account, he and his partner weighed certain factors differently
in selecting securities for firmtrades. Slocumwould | ook at
public events and their possible effect on stock prices, such as
earning rel eases or other events that mght attract attention to
a particular conpany, and then base his determ nation to engage
inafirmtrade on a prediction as to the outcone of these
events. CGordon testified that he woul d nost often attenpt to buy
stocks for the firmduring a perceived upward nonmentumin the

stock over a period of tinme, trying to participate in an upward

13



move as it was occurring. Slocumalso testified that sonetines
he woul d purchase a security for the firmbefore purchasing it
for clients to “test the water” and see if the security would be
a profitable investnent. As a result, sonetinmes SGC woul d
purchase a security for the firmand then later, under different
mar ket conditions, purchase a position in the sanme security for
their clients. Both Slocum and Gordon woul d execute firmtrades
i ndependently from each other, and there was no requirenent that
the two advisers discuss their decision to engage in a particular
firmtrade with the other partners.

The firmtrades were financed through noney borrowed from
the firmis line of credit at Soverei gn Bank, and were typically
held for no nore than three days after the day of purchase before
being sold. 1In every case, firmtrades were sold before
settlenment, which occurred on the third day after the purchase or
sale of a security, and is the date on which paynent for the
transaction is due. Because S&XC s firmtrades were event-
driven, they occurred irregularly: at times firmtrades occurred
weekly, at other times firmtrades did not occur for nonths at a
time. Generally, though, over the tinme period in question both
Sl ocum and Gordon together averaged |ess than one firmtrade per
week.

Typi cal ly, SG&C generated under $5,000 in profit for their

firmfromany single firmtrade. However, during the unusual
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“seismc bull market” of the late 1990s, SG&C s firmtrades were
very successful. Between 1996 and 2000, SG&C mai ntai ned a 98%
success rate on their firmtrades, resulting in an aggregate
profit of $1,253,246 for SGC.

D. Pl acenent of Trades and Docunent ati on

When the investnent advisers at SG&C nade a security
purchase or sale for their clients or for the firm there was a
set process established wwthin the firmfor facilitating and
recording the transaction. Both Sl ocum and Gordon testified that
the first step in any security transaction at SG&C was
identifying an appropriate security for either a firmor a client
trade, using the criteria outlined above. Next, the investnent
advisers testified that they would determ ne which entity (the
firmor particular clients) was going to purchase the particul ar
security. Wien dealing with client accounts, this decision was
made on an account-by-account basis after Sl ocum and Gordon
considered the particular trading criteria each different client
had established for their account. Both Sl ocum and Gordon
testified that they would typically generate rough drafts, or
ot her notes describing the transacti on and worki ng out the
appropriate client list for the trade. These rough drafts or
scratch sheets were not retained by SGC after the business day,
and were never nmade a part of their business records.

Utimately, however, Slocum and Gordon testified that they would
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generate a rough list of the client accounts intended to
participate in a particular transaction and the particular dollar
val ue of shares appropriate for each intended client’s purchase.
Typically, Slocum and Gordon woul d purchase positions in
securities, or round |l ots made up of nultiple thousand-share

bl ocks, and the acconpanying client |ist would describe what
portion of this larger block was intended for a particul ar
client.

Once the stock was identified and a rough draft of a client
list prepared, or, for a firmtrade, the decision to place the
trade was made, Sl ocum and Gordon would call a broker and
initiate a purchase. The firmused nultiple brokers, all of whom
woul d get a conmmi ssion on the trade per security. At this point
intime, Slocumand Gordon would have to specify to the broker
whet her they wanted a market order, a limt order, or a market-
not - hel d order.

As the witnesses testified, a market order instructed the
broker to sinply buy the nunber of shares Sl ocum or Gordon
requested at whatever the current market price was at the tine.
Alimt order instructed the broker to order a specific stock at
a specific price, and required the broker to refrain from
initiating a purchase until the requested purchase price could be
achieved. Market-not-held orders instructed the broker to

purchase the security at the market price, but allowed the
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i ndi vi dual broker to use his or her own discretion to determ ne
the nonent of sale if a price was fluctuating. Gordon testified
that he generally used [imt orders for client trades and market
orders for firmtrades. Gordon also testified that sonetines for
firmtrades he would instruct the broker to sinply purchase a
particular offering of stock at the asking price. In these
situations, Gordon would utilize a limt order for a firmtrade.
Sl ocum never testified as to his ordering preferences.

Once the call to the broker was nmade, Sl ocum and Gordon
woul d take a blank “transaction entry forni (“TE forni), a
generic formcreated by SGC for all security transactions, and
fill out the top portion of the form indicating the date, the
security traded, the purchase, the nunber of shares, the nature
of the order (market, limt, or market-not-held), and the broker
wi th whomthey were dealing. Wile Sl ocumand Gordon would often
handwite the necessary data on the top portion of the TE form
t hensel ves, they woul d sonetines be too busy to do so, and woul d
ask Shoemaker to fill out the formfor them |In these cases,

Sl ocum or Gordon woul d provide Shoenmaker with either their rough
draft notes of the transaction or explain the details of the
transaction to her orally, and she would handwite the
appropriate information on the top portion of the TE form

It is inportant to note that at this point in tine the

transaction to purchase the security was not conplete. Wen
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purchasing a security, SG&C investnent advisers did not consider
a purchase or sale truly initiated until the broker called SGC
with an “execution,” which is the exact price at which the trade
was effectuated and the nunber of shares purchased. Cenerally

t he broker would call back before the market closed on that sane
day with the execution, confirmng that the trade was nade.
Gordon testified that while sonetines the broker would give him
the execution i mediately when he initially placed the order,
other tinmes it would take m nutes or hours for the broker to cal
S&C with the execution. Wen the broker called back, anyone at
SG&C who answered the phone m ght receive the execution
information. Often, this information was recei ved by Shoenmaker
or Stahm and they would either forward it to the appropriate

i nvestment adviser or wite the execution information on the TE
formthensel ves. Sonetines the broker would call back and say,
“Not hi ng done,” indicating that no trade could be effectuated.
In these situations, because the purchase or sell never actually
t ook place, Sl ocum and Gordon not only considered the transaction
aborted, but, rather, that it “ceased to exist.” Consequent |y,
because Sl ocum and Gordon did not consider a transaction
initiated until a positive execution was received, the TE form
menorializing the transaction was not conpletely filled out until
t he execution came back fromthe broker.

When a positive execution was received, indicating that a
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security trade was in progress, the TE form woul d be conpleted in
full. There were several ways that this was acconplished at

SGC. The first possible nethod was for the investnent adviser
to personally handwite all the necessary information, including
all client names and their account nunbers, or firminformation,
on the TE form This happened on sone occasi ons, especially when
a security transaction was sinple and easy to describe. The
second possible nethod, utilized frequently by Gordon, was
entering client data on a conputerized version of the TE form he
created on his personal conputer. Gordon testified that he used
his spread-sheet style, conputerized TE formfor the majority of
his client transactions, and would handwite the TE forns only
for sinple client transactions or for sonme firmtransactions.

Sl ocum was not successful in his attenpts to nmake use of the
conputerized TE form so he rarely enployed this nethod of
record-keeping. The third possible way SGC i nvest nent advi sers
conpleted the TE formwas by partially handwiting the form

t hensel ves and then passing the formto Shoemaker, along with any
rough drafts or notes generated on the transaction, for her to
add any omtted information to the TE form In this third
situation, Shoemaker would transfer all necessary data fromthe
advi ser’s rough draft or verbal description to the TE formin her
own handwiting. While both advisers utilized Shoemaker to fil

out parts of their TE forns, Slocumrelied on her nost heavily
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due to his frequent periods out of the office.

Sl ocum and Gordon both testified that they had an ongoi ng
under standing wi th Shoemaker that a partially filled out TE form
that left client information blank, and that was not acconpani ed
by a separate rough draft list of client information, was always
intended for the firm Shoemaker confirnmed this understanding,
and added that while she would typically assune an unl abel ed
trade was for the firm she would always check with Sl ocum and
Gordon after affirmng it to make sure. Douglas testified that
it was his policy in a situation where a TE formomtted client
information to hold it, and that, if affirm ng things that day
i nstead of Shoemeker, he would not affirmit until he spoke with
Sl ocum and Gordon to orally confirmwth themthat it was
intended as a firmtrade. Wen presented with such a partially-
conpleted TE formfor a firmtrade, Shoenaker testified that,
after confirmng it was a firmtrade, she would conplete the TE
formherself in her own handwiting to indicate that it was a
firmtrade.

Gordon testified that it was always the goal to get the TE
form conpl eted as fast as possible, but, due to the delay in
receiving the broker’s execution information, the TE forns were
rarely conpletely filled out at one sitting, or even by one
person. As a result, multiple handwitings and multiple ink

colors often appear on the TE fornms. |Indeed, Gordon testified to
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his intermttent use of multiple different pens in a day, at
| east one of which was a four-color pen. By the end of the day
every day, the investnent advisers and Shoemaker woul d usually
make sure that all TE forns were properly filled out and pl aced
in a particular file folder maintained by Shoemaker in the
operations departnent, referred to by SG&C enpl oyees as the “blue
folder” or the “pending transactions folder.”* Once a TE form
entered the blue folder, Shoemaker considered it transferred to
t he operations departnment for processing, and she woul d then
wite on it herself as needed to facilitate the different
procedures necessary to her work in operations. She would al so
insert other pieces of information on the TE formthat were not
al ways avail able to the investnent adviser on the trade day, such
as the settlenent date, the principal anmount, and the conm ssion
fees associated wth the transaction. These pieces of
i nformati on were al ways provided to Shoenaker as a part of her
confirmation and affirmation systens in operations.

After a TE formentered the blue folder in operations on a

trade day it would remain there until Shoemaker renobved the

“ On rare occasions, Slocumor Gordon would forget to place a TE
formin the blue folder before the end of a trade day. This would
cause Shoenmaker to have to “track down” the formthe follow ng norning
to affirmthe trade. Such a process happened nore frequently with
Slocum than with Gordon, as Slocumwas | ess detail-oriented. Wen
this occurred, Sl ocum always gave Shoemaker the transaction
i nformation wi thout hesitation, and never attenpted to ascertain the
stock’s performance or change the formin any way before releasing it
to operations.
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folder toward the end of the day to begin organi zing the trades
in preparation for the affirmation process the next norning.

Once a TE formentered the blue folder, it was never altered by
the i nvestnent advisers except under very unique circunstances,
such as a particular client not having sufficient funds in his or
her account to purchase the intended security. In such a
situation, the formwould be returned to the particul ar

i nvestment advi ser for either Slocumor Gordon to reallocate the
nunber of shares purchased between the different clients |isted.

E. The Operations Departnent, Affirnmation, & Settl enent

______The SG&C operations departnent, although overseen by

Dougl as, was | argely nanaged by Shoenaker, a |ongtine enpl oyee
who did not participate in the profits generated by the firm and,
in particular, did not participate at all in the capital gains
generated by the firmaccount. Shoenmaker and Dougl as were a team
t hat enpl oyed essentially the sane procedures.

On any given trade day, after an order to purchase or sel
was instigated by the investnent advisers and the TE form was
surrendered to operations, Shoenmaker and Dougl as woul d begin
their nulti-step process of affirmation, confirmation, and
settlenment. The first step in this process was entering al
pendi ng transactions on a white marker board |ocated in the
operations departnment. Shoemaker usually updated the white

mar ker board on a daily basis, and usually retained four weeks
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worth of trading information on the board, including both buys
and sells. For the current week, Shoenmaker woul d include the
settl enment date for each transaction, which was al ways three days
after the day the trade was placed, and was the date on which
paynment for the transaction was due. The purpose of the white
board was for everyone in the firmto see the pending
transactions, and for Shoenaker and Dougl as to keep apprai sed of
pendi ng settlenment dates so that they could insure that the
appropriate funds were available to finance the transaction.

The second step in the process was affirmation, which
typically occurred the norning after a trade was nmade (T+1).
Affirmati on was a process by which Shoenaker would go on-1line
with S&C s custodial account at |BT (formerly BankBoston), and
review all the information |listed regarding trades placed the day
before. Shoemaker would then cross-reference this information
against the TE fornms in her blue folder. For each trade where
everything on the conmputer screen matched the TE form Shoemaker
woul d electronically affirmthe trade. By affirmng a trade,
Shoenmaker was notifying the bank custodian that the transaction
was correct, and instructing themto begin arrangenents to either
receive a transfer of funds to pay for the trade or to prepare to
sell their security holdings and receive paynent therefor.
Shoemaker would not affirmthe trade if she did not have the TE

formin front of her, and would not affirmthe trade if the
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information on her TE formwas inconsistent with what appeared on
the affirmation screen.

The third step in the process was confirmation. Once she
affirmed the trade, Shoemaker would often print the visible
screen to generate a tenporary paper confirmation that the trade
had gone through. She would then attach this docunent to the TE
form indicating that the trade was affirned, and that she was
awai ting a paper confirmation fromthe broker. After a broker
called to provide the execution price and confirmthe trade, he
or she would also nmail a paper version of the confirmation to
S&C. Shoeneker testified that this was usually received in the
mai |l prior to settlenent day, and that when she received it she
woul d replace the print-out affirmation copy attached to the TE
formw th the hard copy confirmation fromthe broker. Shoemaker
woul d staple these papers together and return themto the blue
folder to await settlenent day.

The fourth step in the process was settlenent, which
occurred on the third day after a trade (T+3). Settlenent was
the process by which SGC directed paynent for a pending security
transaction, and it involved dealing with the various bank
accounts SG&C maintai ned for these purposes. |In anticipation of
settlenment day, on the second day after the trade (T+2),
Shoemaker woul d check the balance on the firms line of credit at

Sovereign Bank to verify the available funds to pay for any firm
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trade executed two days prior. |In addition to preparing for
paynment of firmtrades, the operations departnent would prepare

t he necessary sal es sheet to debit each client’s individual noney
mar ket account at Merrill Lynch in order to pay for their trades.
On occasion, wiring instructions for paynent of the securities
were faxed to the bank that afternoon.

By noon on the third day follow ng the trade, or settlenent
date, the follow ng occurred: for the purchase of a security,
funds were transferred into the firm s clearing account at Fl eet
Bank from SGC s line of credit (for firm purchases) or from
clients’ individual noney market accounts (for client purchases).
The funds from both sources remained briefly in the Fleet
clearing account and were then transferred into the custodi al
account at IBT. Once within the custodial account, the funds
were distributed by the custodian through the Depository Trust
Conpany to the broker through which the securities were
purchased. For a sale, the procedures were reversed. See
Exhi bit P.

Fol l owi ng the conpletion of a transaction, Douglas
general ly, or Shoemaker, entered the information on SG&&C s
conputer system posting the trades to the appropriate accounts.
This was referred to within the firmas “keypunching.” On a
daily basis, Douglas and Shoemaker received reports from Merril

Lynch as to the balances in the clients’ individually segregated
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accounts at that firm On a nonthly basis, Shoemaker and Dougl as
sent information to the custodian, which held the securities in
electronic form to reconcile the custodial account and the SG&C
account .

F. Bank Accounts and Cash Fl ow at SG&C

SGC kept all clients’ records, as well as its own
i nvestnment records, in individually segregated accounts on its
trust departnment-style, internal conputer system To further
acconplish the segregation of client assets fromits operating
accounts, SG&C created a separate nom nee partnership on the
advice of counsel in 1979. This fictional entity, Wanton & Co.,
was a regi stered nomnee wth the Anerican Society of Corporate
Secretaries. Although a separate entity with a separate tax
identification nunber, Wanton & Co. existed only on paper, and
was entirely controll ed by SGC.

Bet ween 1996 and 2000, S&&C mmi ntai ned a series of bank
accounts for different purposes. Cient funds were kept in
i ndi vi dual, segregated noney market accounts at Merrill Lynch.
These accounts were held under the nane of Wanton & Co. rather
than S&&C. SG&C operating funds were kept in their own, separate
checki ng account, and were held under the firms nanme. In
addi ti on, SG&C nmintained an $800,000 line of credit for the firm
t hrough Sovereign Bank. This line of credit was used to finance

firmtrades, and then immediately paid off follow ng each
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transaction. SG&C al so mai ntained a single clearing account at
Fl eet Bank and a single custodial account at IBT (fornerly
BankBoston). These uni que accounts warrant further description.

1. The Fleet Cearing Account

The Fl eet clearing account was a single bank account
mai nt ai ned by SG&C for the purpose of noving funds to their
custodi al account at IBT to facilitate a stock purchase, or for
recei ving funds back from|IBT after a security sale was effected.
Thus, the Fleet account served as an internediary hol ding pen for
funds as they left the segregated client accounts at Merril
Lynch and the firms line of credit at Sovereign on their way to
be converted into securities by the custodian. Assets were only
present in the Fleet clearing account for a short period of tine.
| ndeed, Sl ocum and Gordon testified that funds were sinply routed
t hrough this bank account en route to the custodian. However,
both client funds and firmfunds fromthe line of credit were
routed through the sanme bank account. See Exhibit P.

Al t hough SG&C mai ntai ned records of which funds in the
cl earing account belonged to clients, and which belonged to the
firm these funds were not segregated by Fleet in any nmanner.
When S&&C sold a security, the funds fromthe purchase were al so
routed through the Fleet clearing account en route back to either
the firmor the client accounts at Merrill Lynch. Again, these

assets were not segregated in the Fleet account, and it was up to
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Shoenmaker and Douglas to insure that the funds were w red
correctly to their respective post-trade |ocations. Shoenmaker
testified that after a firmsecurity was sold and the funds were
routed to the Fl eet account, sone of the noney in the Fleet
account would be used to repay the firmis line of credit, and any
additional profits froma firmtrade would ultimtely be
deposited in the firm s operations account. She also testified
that after a client trade, any client funds in the Fleet account
would be wired to Merrill Lynch, where they were then deposited
in the appropriate client account. Only Shoemaker, Dougl as, and
t he operations departnent at SG&&C retained records of who owned
t hese clearing account funds and how they shoul d be distributed.

2. The | BT Custodi al Account

Prior to 1988, SG&C kept the securities for its clients in a
bank vault in Newport. After the SEC exam ned SGC s systemin
1988 and recommended changes to their nmethod of hol ding
securities, SG&C opened and nai ntai ned the | BT custodial account
for its clients’ securities. According to Gordon, the concept of
t he custodi al account was based on SG&C s interpretation of the
Gardner and Preston Mbss SEC No Action Letter issued in 1982.

See Exhibit AA In a letter Gordon wote the SEC in 1988,

expl ai ning the new system Gordon nakes reference to S&C s
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reliance on the Gardner and Preston Moss No Action Letter.® See
Exhi bit 39.

The single custodial account was established under the nanme
of Wanton & Co., and was intended by S&C to serve as an
el ectronic vault for securities. However, the |IBT custodi al
account, as it existed, was nore akin to a bank account than an
electronic vault. Wen SGC would initiate a stock purchase, the
funds for that purchase, whether for the firmor for clients,
woul d both enter this account fromthe clearing account at Fl eet
and coexi st together in the I BT account for a short period of
time until they could be gathered by the custodian and utilized
to pay for the securities ordered. Once these funds were used to
purchase the securities, the I BT account would then hold the
securities, wthout distinguishing between firmand client
ownership, until SGC nade a decision to sell them \Wen a
decision to sell was nmade, |IBT would sell the securities
i ndi cated, and then, for a short period, would hold the funds
before routing them back to SGC t hrough the cl earing account at
Fl eet .

Wil e the I BT custodial account held securities, and al so

for the short periods of time that it held funds before

®> Al'though Gordon’s letter to the SEC descri bes the new custodi al
process in detail, it neglects to nmention that the same custodial
account devel oped for client funds and securities will also contain
firmfunds and securities. See Exhibit 39.
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transferring themto the clearing account, these assets were not
segregated in any way within the bank itself, but rather al

regi stered under the nane of Wanton & Co. The only record of
which entity owned what particular security, or to what party the
funds were payable, whether clients or the firm was naintained
by SG&C alone in their internal records. SG&C submtted nonthly
reports to I BT explaining their calculation of which securities
bel onged to clients and which belonged to the firm and these
monthly reports were the only nethod the bank had of assigning
ownership to the different securities. No records were submtted
regarding the funds, as they were only in the account for a short
period of tinme. However, although the nonthly report on security
ownership was submtted to I BT, no internal, bank-based
segregation of the client securities and the firmsecurities was
performed, or even attenpted. The custodi al account was
mai nt ai ned as one, single account containing both firmand client
assets, registered under the nane of Wanton & Co.

G Conpliance Initiatives at SGC

SG&C enpl oyed several different procedures in an effort to
mai ntai n SEC conpliance. Wen first establishing their
investnment firmin 1978 and 1979, Slocum and Gordon sought the
advi ce of counsel, and fornulated their account structure in
accordance with their attorney’s recommendations. SG&C al so

relied on the advice of counsel in refornulating their account
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structure to include the use of a separate custodial account in
1988. See Exhibit 39.
In addition, SG&C filed an annual conpliance report with the

Comm ssi on, known as an ADV Form which outlined SGC s trading
practices and account structure. See Exhibits 32, 33, and 34.
The ADV Form was prepared by Gordon, and he al so bore the
responsibility for updating it on an annual basis. Attached to
this report was a firmbrochure, which Gordon described as a
user-friendly version of the information provided on the ADV form
that S&&C prepared for new clients. This client brochure was
submtted to the SEC annually along with the ADV Form The
annual filing of an updated ADV Form along with the attached
firmbrochure, represented the firm s method of communicating
with the SEC and disclosing the firmis practices. Both the ADV
Form and the firm brochure indicated that SGC bought and sol d
securities for itself that it also recomended to clients. 1In
addition, the ADV Formincluded the follow ng | anguage descri bi ng
S&C s firmtradi ng policies:

[The] firmor its partners may take short-

termtrading positions for their own accounts

and securities which for reasons of market

ri sk or holding period expectations the firm

may deem i nappropriate for clients’ accounts.

However, in any case where either the firmor

its partners make purchases or sal es of

securities whose objectives coincide with the

fundanment al investnent phil osophy of the

firm those transactions will always be in

conformty wth other simlar transactions
for clients.
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Exhi bit 32, Schedul e F.
S&C filed this paperwork with the Comm ssion regularly through
the relevant tinme period.

O her regular controls SG&C had in place were annual
surprise exam nations by their independent auditor, Deloitte &
Touche. Deloitte & Touche had a long standing relationship with
S&C. Each year, in accordance with the requirenents of Rules
206(4)-2 and 204-2(b) of the Advisers Act, Deloitte & Touche
performed a confirmation of securities held by the custodi an,
| BT, and the client accounts at Merrill Lynch, and al so exam ned
t hose aspects of the SG&C s books and records as were “consi dered
necessary in the circunstances.” See Exhibit Y27. Deloitte and
Touche did not, however, conduct a conprehensive audit of SG&C s
records, and did not exam ne any assets in the Fleet clearing
account .

After each annual exam nation, Deloitte & Touche issued a
letter to SG&C expl ai ning the paraneters of their exam nation and
opining that “no matters cane to [their] attention that caused
[then] to believe that the investnent accounts shoul d be adjusted
or that [ SG&C] was not in conpliance....” See Exhibits Y25-Y32.
Al t hough Deloitte & Touche always clearly explained in its
letters that their surprise examnation did not constitute an
audit made in accordance with generally accepted auditing

standards, and included | anguage in each |letter specifying that
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it “[did] not express an opinion on the investnment accounts [at
issue],” CGordon testified that he considered a positive letter
fromDeloitte & Touche to indicate that SG&C procedures were
appropriate and that SG&C was in conpliance with the SEC. During
the relevant tine period, Deloitte & Touche exam ned SG&C s
accounts annually, and each tinme SG&C received a letter from
Deloitte & Touche indicating that no potential conpliance issues
were uncovered in the course of its confirmation procedures.

Anot her essential aspect of SGC s conpliance initiatives
were the sporadi c exam nations of its accounts and procedures by
the SEC itself. The SEC descended on SG&C and exam ned its books
and record-keepi ng procedures periodically over its years of
operation. Prior to the relevant tine period, the Conm ssion’s
two nost recent exam nations occurred in 1988, which spurred S&C
to create its custodial account, and in 1994, which resulted in
alterations to SG&C s ADV Form inposition of nonthly updates to
the firms general and auxiliary |edgers, and inclusion of
additional information on the firms TE forns.

Whenever SGEC effected a substantial change in any of its
accounting procedures in response to SEC exam nations, Gordon
would wite a letter to the SEC explaining the firm s changes and
its efforts toward achi eving conpliance. One such exanple is
Exhibit 39, Gordon’s letter to the SEC explaining the firns

decision to establish the custodial arrangenent with IBT. Gordon
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testified that although he wote and sent this letter to the SEC
expl ai ning the custodi al account, he never received a response
fromthe Conm ssion. He also testified that although he relied
on the Gardner and Preston Moss “No Action Letter” in creating
the SG&C custodi al relationship, he never sought a separate “No
Action Letter” fromthe SEC for S&&C. \Wen the Conm ssion
exam ned SG&C s records and procedures in 1994, and deficiencies
were identified by the Comm ssion, Gordon also generated a letter
describing the firms steps towards conpliance. See Exhibit W5.
The 1994 exam nation by the SEC resulted in no negative
comentary regarding the S&C s account structure, so SGC
assunmed that it was in conpliance with the applicable rules and
regul ati ons.

After the 1994 exam nation, SG&C s next visit fromthe
Comm ssion occurred in March of 2000, which gave rise to the

i nvestigation generating the allegations at issue in this case.

PART TWO. CHERRY PI CKI NG ALLEGATI ONS

A. The SEC Exanmi nation in 2000

___In March of 2000, the SEC returned for a surprise

exam nation of SG&C. As in past SEC exam nations, Gordon

i nstructed Shoemaker and Douglas to make all firmrecords
available to the SEC auditors, and to allow them access to any

information they needed. However, this tinme, as Conm ssion
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representatives began to exam ne S&C, it becane clear that the
Comm ssi on was unhappy with several of SGC s operating
practices.

First and forenost anong these questionabl e practices was
SG&&C s cash flow and bank account structure, which allowed funds
comng to and fromthe firms line of credit and client funds to
coexist in the sane clearing and custodial accounts. \When
coupled with both SG&C s high rate of success on short-termfirm
trades and the firms practice of only partially conpleting TE
forms at any one sitting, the SEC becane concerned that the SGC
i nvest ment advi sers were engaged in a process known as cherry
pi cki ng.

Cherry picking, as defined at trial, is a practice by which
an investnent adviser purchases a security, waits to evaluate its
performance, and then allocates it to hinself or his firmrather
than clients if it “pops,” or goes up quickly within a short
period of time. To explain this another way, an investnent
advi ser engaging in cherry picking buys securities in bl ocks
W thout determ ning an intended recipient. Then, between trade
day and settl enent day, he watches the security’s perfornmance.

If the value increases significantly, he allocates the security
to the firm thus picking the “cherry” for hinself. However, if
t he val ue decreases prior to settlenent, or if it stays the sane,

the investnent adviser allocates the security to his clients,
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thus leaving themthe “pit.” During its exam nation, the SEC
becane suspicious of SGC s operations practices because, due to
the comm ngling of funds and S&&C s inconsistent procedure for
preparing TE forns, the w ndow of opportunity for such activity
was present. As a result of these findings, the Comm ssion
instigated a formal investigation of S&C and its operational
practices during the spring and sunmer of 2000. This
investigation ultimately resulted in this cause of action.

B. The Comm ssion’'s Evi dence

At trial, the only first-hand evidence of a cherry picking
schenme offered by the Comm ssion was the testinmony of SG&C s
former partner, Jane Lippincott, who left the firmin January of
2000 to start her own business. Al the Conm ssion’s other
evi dence of cherry picking was circunstantial evidence based on
trading patterns it considered suspicious. At trial, Lippincott,
who was not a defendant, testified under subpoena, and received
immunity fromthe Comm ssion in exchange for her testinony
agai nst her former partners and firm

1. Lippincott’s Firmlnvol venent

Li ppi ncott originally started working at S&&C as a sunmer
intern while she was a col |l ege student at the University of Rhode
I sland. After her graduation in 1981, she began working full-
time, and becane a partner in 1991. Although a partner and a

portfolio manager, Lippincott did not manage nore than 10% of

36



S&C s client accounts, and did not engage in firmtrading.
According to Lippincott, this constituted around 20 client
accounts, however, she admtted that several of these accounts
were her famly nmenbers or her own personal accounts. Throughout
her tenure at SG&C, Lippincott considered Sl ocum her nentor and
friend, and she testified that the vast majority of her client
accounts were given to her by Slocum and that Slocum assisted
her with her trading decisions for these accounts. |In fact, she
testified Sl ocumwas so involved in her purchase and sale
decisions that it was rare for her to ever conplete and sign a TE
formentirely on her own over all the years she served as a

part ner.

In the m d-1990s Lippincott had her first child, and
reformed her work schedule so that she was only in the office
three days a week, and the other days she worked from hone.
During the | ast years of her association wth SG&C, Lippincott
becane very involved in conpetitive tennis, and was often out of
the office engaging in tennis-related activities or other
busi ness opportunities not associated with S&G&C. This gradual
di stancing fromthe firmcontinued until the fall of 1999, when
Li ppi ncott approached Sl ocum and Gordon about increasing her
partnership share. At the tine, she confided in Slocumthat she
was considering leaving the firmif her share was not

substantially increased. Shortly thereafter, Lippincott was
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present at a neeting where Gordon outlined how the partnership
shares were distributed, and inforned all S&&C partners that in
order to increase their share of the firms profits they needed
to either take on additional client accounts or increase their
participation in the firmtrading account. Lippincott testified
that after this neeting she deduced that she was not going to be
able to achieve the percentage share she was interested in

w t hout substantially increasing her work | oad, so she decided to
| eave the firm Lippincott tendered her resignation letter to

Sl ocum on January 2, 2000.

During the SEC s investigative hearings, Lippincott
testified that Sl ocum and Gordon were engaged in a general
practice of cherry picking profitable securities for the firms
account, and specifically nentioned Halliburton as a security
that SG&C cherry picked during the relevant tinme period.

However, at trial, the evidence showed that Lippincott was
entirely m staken about the Halliburton trades, because these
trades were initiated in every instance for clients rather than
for the firm \Wen confronted with this disparity, Lippincott
admtted that she was m staken about these trades, since no
portion of the profits went to the firmaccount. The only other
possi bl e exanpl e of cherry picking Lippincott nustered was the
Aneri can Hone Products transaction, which the Court will now

di scuss.
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1. Anerican Hone Products

In addition to her Halliburton assertions, Lippincott
clainmed to have personally w tnessed one instance of cherry
pi cking at SG&C regarding a trade of Anerican Home Products stock
on Wednesday, August 18, 1999. The circunstances surroundi ng
this transaction were as follows. The norning of August 18,
Li ppi ncott and Sl ocum di scussed purchasing 3,000 shares of
Aneri can Hone Products (“AHP’). Lippincott testified that she
believed this purchase was for clients, however she coul d not
remenber which clients, and never made a list or any form of
rough draft or notes regarding which clients she or Sl ocum
intended it for. Lippincott also failed to recall the reason why
the purchase was initiated. Slocumtestified that it was
intended as a firmtrade, and was event-driven. Specifically,
Slocumtestified that he wanted to nmake a firmtrade in AHP on
August 18 because he had heard runors of a potential nerger
bet ween AHP and d axo-Wel | cone, another nmj or pharmaceuti cal
conpany, which he hoped woul d cause the stock to increase rapidly
over a short period of tine.

After the decision to purchase was nmade, Sl ocum had
Li ppi ncott call a particular broker at the firm Hanbrecht & Qui st
to place the trade. SG&C had previously had a relationship with

Hanbrecht & Quist, but had not utilized the firmfor trading for
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over a year and a half. Slocumtestified that he had Li ppincott
initiate the trade with Hanbrect & Qui st because a particul ar
broker she had dealt with favorably in the past, Richard Vesse,
had recently transferred within that firmfromits San Franci sco
office to the Boston office, and he thought that this trade would
be an opportunity for Lippincott to utilize her friendship with
Vesse to reestablish SG&C s rel ationship with the brokerage firm
Sl ocum al so testified that Lippincott had been utilizing research
services offered by Hanbrecht & Quist during that tine period,
and that he wanted to “increase her stature” with the broker by
denonstrating that she was in a position to pay for the research
W th comm ssion fees. Lippincott confirnmed that she called
Hanbrecht & Quist to initiate the trade because of her past
association with Vesse. After Lippincott placed the trade and
filled out sonme portions of the TE formfor it, including the
date, the security transaction, the broker, the representative,
t he execution price, and the settlenent date, see Exhibit Mw 12,
she imedi ately left the office for the remainder of the week to
play in a tennis tournanent.

Li ppi ncott did not return fromher tennis tournanment until
Monday, August 23, 1999. At that point, Lippincott testified
t hat she becanme aware that Sl ocum and Shoemaker had processed the
AHP transaction as a firmtrade, and Slocumwas in the process of

selling it for a profit. Lippincott testified that she had a
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conversation wth Sl ocumwhere he indicated to her that the AHP
stock had “popped” so he had “run it through the firmaccount.”®
Sl ocum deni es havi ng such a conversation with Lippincott, and

al so denies ever using the term*“pop” in relation to a security.
Shoemaker confirnms that Sl ocum and Gordon were not in the habit
of describing stocks that went up quickly as having, “popped,”
and testified that the only person she ever heard use this term
to describe securities was Lippincott. Shoenaker also testified
that she never altered the paperwork m d-streamto change a
trade’s allocation fromparticular clients to the firm account.

Li ppi ncott testified that she was annoyed that the trade was
not allocated for clients, but admtted that she took no steps to
notify others in the firm such as Shoemaker, Douglas, or Gordon,
that the trade was supposed to be for clients. She al so
testified that she nade no attenpt to correct the error herself.
Li ppi ncott also failed to renmenber which clients she intended the
transaction for, and never nmade or submtted a |ist of these
clients to Sl ocum or Shoenmaker before |eaving the office for her
tenni s tournanent the week before. Taking all of this into
consideration, the Court is not persuaded that the AHP was

reall ocated fromclient accounts to the firm The fact that

® Lippincott also testified that she heard simlar term nol ogy
used at partners neetings to describe Slocumand Gordon’s decision to
real |l ocate favorable securities to the firmthat were originally
intended for their clients. No other w tnesses corroborate this
testi nony, and both Sl ocum and Gordon deny it.

41



Li ppi ncott left the AHP TE formw thout a client list, especially
in light of Sl ocum and Shoemeker’s stated policy to regard bl ank
TE forns as firmtrades, indicates that this trade was, at nost,
an error made in favor of the firm and not an exanple of cherry
pi cki ng.

Slocumtestified that he believed the TE formrepresented a
firmtrade, and that no client lIist was ever brought to his
attention regarding it at any point in tinme. The testinony
indicated that if Lippincott had approached her partners and
indicated that the AHP trade was erroneously marked up as a firm
trade, SG&C woul d have had the opportunity to correct the error,
both on the transaction TE form and through their accounts.
However, Lippincott never notified any of her co-workers that she
intended this as a client trade, but had forgotten to attach a
client list before leaving to play tennis. This exanple does not
constitute cherry picking.

2. Li ppi ncott’s Conversati ons

Li ppi ncott also testified to several conversations she had
wi th Sl ocum and Gordon after leaving the firmthat she
interpreted negatively. The first is a conversation with Sl ocum
where the two were discussing Lippincott’s difficulties in
starting her own investnent business. Lippincott’s new
investnment firmhad no client base, and, as a result, generated

no comm ssion fees fromclients. Wen talking with Sl ocum about
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t his business, she testified that Sl ocum commented that she
“didn’t have clients to fall back on.” Lippincott interpreted
this cormment as neaning that she didn’t have client accounts and
thus could not cherry pick and pass the “pits” on to her clients.
Slocumtestified that what he neant by this statenent was that

Li ppi ncott could not fall back on her comm ssion fees from
clients when the market was in a down-swing. The second is a
comment that Sl ocum made to her regarding the SEC investigation
in 2000, where he joked that SG&C “shoul d have booked a | o0ss.”

Li ppi ncott also interpreted this conment as an adm ssion that
cherry picking had been occurring at SG&C.

At her SEC hearing, Lippincott testified that her beliefs
about the Halliburton transactions influenced her interpretation
of both of these comrents. Although inpeached with this prior
testinmony at trial, Lippincott refused to admt that she could
have been m staken about Slocumis neaning in either context. |In
I ight of her m sunderstandi ng, however, the Court is conpelled to
di scount her interpretation.

Finally, Lippincott testified about a tel ephone conversation
she had with Gordon during the SEC i nvestigation, where she
testified that Gordon told her that he wanted to nmake sure
Li ppi ncott was “on the sanme page” as he and Sl ocum were regarding
her recollection of events. Lippincott’s handwitten notes of

this conversation were introduced into evidence at trial, and

43



t hey included the statenents “tradi ng account issues were known
before the trade and not after the trade” and that the “firm
never had a tradi ng account, just borrowed noney, dollars.” See
Exhi bit 43. Lippincott testified that, in her opinion, neither
of these statenents from her notes were accurate descriptions of
practices at SG&C. Gordon denied ever telling Lippincott that
SG&C never had a trading account, and testified that his

t el ephone conversation with Lippincott was nerely intended to
bring her up to speed on the SEC investigation since she had been
a firmpartner during the relevant tinme period. Although
Gordon’ s conversation with Lippincott during the Conm ssion’s

i nvestigation suggests that he was aware that SG&C s practices
were under fire, and that some of the firm s operations were
questionable in the eyes of the Commssion, it is not enough to
establish that cherry picking had occurred.

4. Fam |y Trades & Howard Trades

In addition to the Lippincott testinony, the SEC s ot her
trade-specific evidence focuses on their analysis of 22 short-
termtrades SG&C nmade for clients during the rel evant period.
The Conmm ssion argues that these trades constitute exanpl es of
SG&C cherry picking favorable trades for preferred clients.

Each of these transactions was initiated by Sl ocum who
testified that although he generally preferred | ong-term

i nvestnments for clients, he would occasionally engage in short-
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termtrades for a small percentage of his client accounts where
the particular individual had indicated that he or she was not
averse to this level of risk. Incidentally, all the clients
willing to consider short-termtrading were individuals close to
the firmand its partners: Slocums famly nmenbers, a forner
partner, John Howard, and Howard’'s wife. These trades can be
considered in three groups.

a. The Reall ocated Decenber 1999 Trades

At the end of Decenber, 1999, Slocum engaged in two security
transactions originally initiated for the firm but which were
reall ocated to his nother and sister after a profit was realized
on the transaction. These two trades were a purchase of Scient,
initiated on Decenber 27, and sold on Decenber 30, and of Bank of
America, initiated on Decenber 28 and sold on Decenber 30.
Exhibits NN-711 and NN-105. In both cases, Slocumtestified that
he originally initiated the trade for the firm and intended it
to be financed through the firmis Iine of credit at Sovereign
Bank. However, when placing these short-termtrades, Sl ocum had
forgotten that as a condition of SG&C s arrangenment with
Sovereign for the Iine of credit, the line of credit had to be
reduced to zero once a year. It was the operations departnent’s
practice to “zero out” the line of credit annually on Decenber
31. The two firmtrades violated this policy because the

settlenment date for the sale would occur after the traditional
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“zero out” day had passed. Because it was the end of the year,
no new “zero out” day could be arranged, and the trades had to be
real | ocat ed.

Shoenmaker was the first to recognize that these two trades
violated the firm s agreenment with Sovereign, and brought themto
Sl ocunmis attention on the | ast business day of the year in 1999,
after the sale was already initiated. Slocumtestified that he
needed to act quickly, so he selected clients who he knew had
enough funds in their Merrill Lynch accounts to finance the
trades and would not mnd his decision to engage in a short-term
risky trade for their benefit. These clients were his nother and
his sister. He then altered the two TE fornms to reflect the
change by crossing out the firm s nanme and account information,
and replacing it with the account information for his two famly
menbers.

Shoemaker testified that she renmenbered this incident, and
that it was “unique” in her experience at SGC. Slocunmis error
and subsequent reallocation was clearly docunented on the two TE
forms. See Exhibits NN-711 and NN-105. These trades were an
attenpt by Slocumto correct an error, and not an exanpl e of
cherry picking.

b. Slocunis Famly | nvestnents

Slocumtestified that he nade certain investnents for

menbers of his imediate famly that were short-termin nature,
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consistent wwth the established risk |evel appropriate for these
accounts. He also engaged in the purchase of |ong-term hol di ngs
for these accounts. Slocumtestified that sonmetines trades that
he initially instigated for clients as |ong-term hol di ngs woul d
be sold prematurely if they achieved his desired rate of return
sooner than he had expected. He and Gordon characterized these
as “short-term hol dings” rather than “short-termtrades.” In
several instances, Slocumis nother, sister, and son, as well as
other clients, benefitted fromthese short-term hol di ngs.
Slocunis famly nmenbers also participated in client trades that
resulted in a loss. See Response to Appendi x A, Edison, Cctel,
Viant. Wiile Slocums investnent strategy for his famly nenbers
m ght have been nore aggressive than that which he enpl oyed for
other clients, these transactions do not constitute cherry

pi cki ng.

One particular famly trade stands out due to a reallocation
of share proportions after the trade was initiated. On Decenber
20, 1999, Slocums nother and sister, along with other clients,
participated in a purchase of Solectron. Due to insufficient
funds in other client accounts, Slocumhad to redistribute the
nunber of shares anong the clients listed on the TE form giving
his nother and sister a | arger share of the purchase than he had
originally intended. Exhibit NN-748. Again, Slocumtestified

that he chose his nother and sister for these purchases because
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he knew that they had sufficient funds in their Merrill Lynch
accounts to accommpdate the transaction.’ Shortly thereafter,
because he was unconfortable with them owning such a | arge
position in Solectron, he reduced their holdings significantly.?
This anbunted to a short-termtrade for his nother and sister on
a portion of their Solectron holdings. Slocunms nother and
sister, along with the other clients fromthe original Decenber
20 TE form continued to hold the remainder of their Sol ectron
positions until April 4, 2000, when the price had dropped
consi derably.?®

The Sol ectron trade is another exanple of Slocumutilizing
hi s nother and sister’s accounts to assist himin correcting
erroneous trade allocations anong clients. They do not, however,

constitute cherry picking.

c. The Howard Trades

" Slocumtestified that the funds necessary to finance this
transaction were $55,000 fromhis nother’'s account for 650 shares of
Sol ectron, and $51,510 fromhis sister’s account for 600 shares of
Sol ectron.

8 On Decenber 22, 1999, Sl ocum sold 500 shares of both his nother
and sister’s holdings of Selectron, reducing their holdings to 150 and
100 shares, respectively. Both profited fromthe short-term
transacti on.

® When Slocum sold a portion of his nother and sister’s shares
of Sol ectron on Decenber 22, the price was $89 per share. Wen he
sold the renmai nder of the Sol ectron position on April 4, the price had
dropped to $42 per share.
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Sl ocum made several short-termtrades for John Howard
(“Howard”), a retired partner of SG&C who was a sophi sticated
investor prior to his retirenment in 1992, and who was wlling to
take risks in his investnments. Oten the securities Sl ocum
purchased for Howard and his wi fe were handpicked by the retired
partner as long-terminvestnents and purchased by Sl ocum agai nst
his own better judgnent. According to Slocum during the
relevant tinme period, Howard would often drop by the office to
visit Slocum and request that Slocum purchase particul ar
securities for his account. Slocumtestified that nore often
than not, the trades Howard wanted were very risky, and that
Sl ocum woul d attenpt to talk his retired partner out of the
transaction, but that such an attenpt was usually unsuccessful.
In such a situation, Slocum would purchase the security for
Howard as he requested, but he would typically try to sell it as
fast as possible to avoid the possibility of a |oss. [|ndeed,
Slocumtestified that during the tine period at issue, he began
to have serious doubts about Howard’' s busi ness judgnment and even
spoke to his wfe regarding his concerns.

The Howard trades, while an exanple of short-term hol di ngs,
do not constitute cherry picking. No evidence has been presented
t hat Sl ocum purchased these risky securities wthout an intended
reci pient and then allocated themto Howard because they

generated a profit.
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3. Shoemaker & Dougl as

I f a cherry picking schene had exi sted at SG&C, both
Shoemaker and Dougl as, the individuals dealing with all the
paperwork necessary to facilitate a transaction at the firm
woul d have been aware of it. Not only would Shoemaker and
Dougl as have to have known about such a schene, but they would
have been forced to actively participate in the schene by hol di ng
the TE forns until either Sl ocumor Gordon nade an allocation
decision, or altering TE forns as the allocation fromclients to
the firmshifted with market conditions. However, both Shoemaker
and Dougl as testified that the TE forns were al ways conpl et ed by
either the end of the day a trade was initiated, or the follow ng
nmorni ng, and that once TE fornms were conpl eted, they were
generally never altered, except in unique situations. According
to Shoenmeker, TE fornms within her blue folder were only altered
to correct errors, such as in a situation where a particul ar
client had insufficient funds to effectuate a purchase, or where
Slocunmis firmtrade created a bal ance due on the Iine of credit
over the year’s end. Both Shoemaker and Dougl as testified that
they were unaware of a cherry picking scheme at SGC, and the
Court concludes that both are credi ble w tnesses.

C. Cessation of Firm Trading

In the late spring of 2000, after receiving the SEC s

deficiency letter, SGC discontinued its practice of short-term
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firmtrading. Both Slocumand CGordon testified that there were
two reasons for their decision to stop firmtrading at SG&C.
First, as Sl ocumand Gordon correctly predicted earlier in their

regular firmnewsletter, AView FromMI| Street, the historic

bul | market that existed during the 1990s was ending. See
Exhibits Z1, Q & R This nmarket change resulted in a |ess
desirabl e environment for short-term nonmentum tradi ng. Second,
with the SEC s investigation underway, and questions in place
about SG&C s conpliance, Sl ocum and Gordon decided that they
needed to discontinue firmtrading until the matter was clearly
resolved. As a result, SG&C stopped its short-termtrading for
the firmaccount in May of 2000, and no | onger engages in the
firmtrades in the manner descri bed above.

D. Ref or mul ati on of Account Structure

During the fall of 2000, after the SEC instigated its
i nvestigation and questions were raised about the account
structure at S&C, the firm on its ow initiative, made the
decision to re-structure S&&C s account system |In Novenber and
Decenber of 2000, all of the client assets managed by S&&C were
nmoved to new accounts at Fidelity Investnents. These new
accounts are client-specific, individual accounts, and are
conpletely segregated. During this tinme period SGC di sconti nued
its use of its client accounts at Merrill Lynch, its clearing

account at Fleet, and its custodial account at IBT. Al S&C s
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cash flow for facilitating security transactions is now nmanaged
by Fidelity, and is individually segregated by account. SG&&C

al so opened a separate firmaccount at Fidelity intended for firm
tradi ng, however, because the firmstopped trading for itself in
May of 2000, this account has never been utili zed.

E. Lack of Cient Losses

Inits Conplaint, the SEC all eges that SG&C assi gned | osses
to their clients. However, at trial, all the testinony negated
such an assertion, and no evidence was produced at trial to
support this allegation. Indeed, the SEC failed to introduce
evi dence of any particul ar instance where an SG&C client suffered
an actual loss due to the firnm s operational practices. |nstead,
t he Comm ssion introduced evidence of hypothetical client |osses.
The SEC s anal yst, Vance Anthony, testified and authenticated
docunent ati on showi ng that the closing price of S&C s client
trades on the trade day was | ower than the purchase price 47% of
the time, and that the closing price on the day after the trade
was | ower than the purchase price 49%of the tinme. Anthony’s
data conpil ations were introduced into evidence by the
Comm ssion. See Exhibit 6. Essentially, the SEC posits that
this reduction in val ue denonstrates hypothetical client

| osses. 1

1 I'n addition, the SEC contends that an exam nation of
Def endants’ Exhibit F reveals that there were “potential |osses” of
over $5 million on client trades in the three day period after
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The SEC argues that the evidence denonstrates that there was
no potential for profit in the three day period follow ng an S&C
client trade approximately 14%of the tinme, and that there was a
potential for loss during this three day period 85% of the tine.
However, this downward trend in client securities during the days
i mredi ately foll ow ng purchase is consistent with Sl ocum and
Gordon’ s phil osophy of buying client securities during a period
of weakness, holding themfor an extended period, and then
selling themlater in a position of strength. The SEC has
produced no evidence of actual |osses realized by S&C clients
during the relevant tinme period. |Indeed, the evidence
denonstrated that many of SG&C s client accounts achi eved a 95%
return rate between 1996 and 2000. Even Lippincott testified
that she believed her personal and famly investnent accounts
were safe at SG&C, and her ultimte decision to nove these
accounts from SG&C was unrelated to the Conm ssion’s
investigation or allegations. Wthout specific evidence, the
Court is conpelled to find that no actual client |osses occurred
during the relevant tinme period.

To counter the Conm ssion’s hypothetical |oss analysis,
Def endants presented equally hypothetical data projecting the
potential profits SG&C coul d have realized between 1996 and 2000

had their operations nerely been a “front” for cherry picking.

settlement. See SEC Post Trial Reply Menorandum at 7.
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Def endants’ anal yst, Frederic MIler, prepared a schedul e of al
trades SG&C instigated during the relevant tinme period. Mller’'s
conpi l ation suggests that if SG&C had been involved in a cherry
pi cki ng schene, they would have had the opportunity to reap an
additional $4.2 mllion in firmprofits. See Exhibit F.

However, they did not.

[11. Conclusions of Law

In an effort to expose sonme manner of fraud on the part of
S&C and its partners, the Conm ssion has asserted eight counts
of federal securities violations against the Defendants. As
outlined previously, the Conmssion’s |ist of allegations can be
broken into three main areas, each governed by its own set of
statutes and regul ations. These categories are cherry picking,
technical violations, and aiding and abetting. The Court wl|
address each of these areas and the | aw that governs them

A. Cherry Pi cki ng

The first two counts of the Comm ssion’s Conplaint relate to
its cherry picking allegations against the Defendants.
Specifically, the Comm ssion argues that SGC, Slocum and CGordon
cherry picked profitable securities for their firmthat were
originally intended for clients, in violation of Section 17(a) of
the Securities Act, Section 10(b) of the Exchange Act, and Rule
10b-5 thereunder. See 15 U.S.C. § 77qg(a); 15 U.S.C. § 78j(b); 17

C.F.R 8 240.10b-5. The | anguage of these statutes and the
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acconpanyi ng regul ation are as foll ows:

The Securities Act:

(a) Use of interstate commerce for purpose of
fraud or deceit

It shall be unlawful for any person in
the offer or sale of any
securities...directly or indirectly-—

(1) to enploy any device, schene, or
artifice to defraud, or

(2) to obtain noney or property by neans
of any untrue statenent of a material fact or
any omi ssion to state a material fact
necessary in order to nake the statenents
made, in the light of the circunstances under
whi ch they were made, not m sl eadi ng; or

(3) to engage in any transaction,
practice, or course of business which
operates or would operate as a fraud or
deceit upon the purchaser

15 U.S.C. § 77q(a) (2000).

The Exchange Act:

It shall be unlawful for any person, directly
or indirectly, by the use of any means or
instrunmentality of interstate comrerce or of
the mails, or of any facility of any national
securities exchange..

(b) To use or enploy, in connection with
t he purchase or sale of any security
regi stered on a national securities exchange
or any security not so registered...any
mani pul ati ve or deceptive device or
contrivance in contravention of such rules
and regul ati ons as the Conm ssion nmay
prescri be as necessary or appropriate in the
public interest or for the protection of
i nvestors.

15 U.S.C. § 78j (b) (2000).

Rul e 10b- 5:

It shall be unlawful for any person, directly
or indirectly,...

55



(a) To enploy any device, schene, or
artifice to defraud,

(b) To make any untrue statenent of a
material fact or to omt to state a materi al
fact necessary in order to make the
statenents made, in the light of the
ci rcunst ances under which they were nmade, not
m sl eadi ng, or

(c) To engage in any act, practice, or
course of business which operates or woul d
operate as a fraud or deceit upon any person,
in connection with the purchase or sale of
any security.

17 CF.R § 240.10b-5 (2003).
Courts have recogni zed that the standard of proof is simlar
for violations of both Section 17(a) and Section 10(b) and Rule

10b-5 pronul gated thereunder. See SEC v. Berger, 244 F. Supp.2d

180, 188-89 (S.D.N. Y. 2001). GCenerally, a violation of Section
10(b) and Rule 10b-5 occurs if a defendant has: “(1) nade a
material m srepresentation or a material om ssion as to which he
had a duty to speak, or used a fraudul ent device; (2) with
scienter; (3) in connection with the purchase or sale of

securities.” 1d. at 188; see also Kennedy v. Josephthal & Co.,

Inc., 814 F.2d 798, 804 (1t Cr. 1987). The standard for a
Section 17(a) violation is basically the sane, although “‘no
showi ng of scienter is required for the SEC to obtain an

i njunction under subsections (a)(2) or (a)(3).’” Berger, 244

F. Supp. 2d at 188 (quoting SEC v. Mnarch Funding Corp., 192 F.3d

295, 308 (2d Gir. 1999)).

Scienter is defined as “a nental state enbracing intent to
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deceive, manipul ate, or defraud.” Ernst & Ernst v. Hochfel der

425 U. S. 185, 193 n.12 (1976). The First Grcuit has recognized
that scienter nay be established by indirect evidence, and “my

extend to a formof extrene recklessness[.]” In re Cabletron

Systens, Inc., 311 F.3d 11, 38 (1% Gr. 2002). 1In this context,

however, “reckl essness” nmust be nore than a greater degree of
ordinary negligence; it nust be extrene, rising to “a |l esser form

of intent.” Geebel v. FTP Software, Inc., 194 F.3d 185, 198-99

(1t Cir. 1999). The First Crcuit has defined reckl essness, in
this context, as foll ows:

Reckl ess conduct may be defined as [a] highly
unr easonabl e om ssion, involving not nmerely
sinple, or even inexcusable negligence, but
an extrene departure fromthe standards of
ordi nary care, and which presents a danger of
m sl eadi ng buyers or sellers that it is

ei ther known to the defendant or is so

obvi ous that the actor nust have been aware
of it.

Id. at 198 (quoting Sundstrand Corp. v. Sun Chem Corp., 553 F. 2d

1033, 1045 (7" Cir. 1977)).

It is also inportant to define materiality. According to
the United States Suprene Court, an omtted fact or m sstatenent
in securities transactions is material if there is a substantial
l'i kel i hood that a reasonable investor would consider it inportant
in making his or her investnent decision as to a particular

security. Basic, Inc. v. Levinson, 485 U. S. 224, 231-32 (1988);

see also SECv. Fife, 311 F.3d 1, 9 (1%t Gr. 2002).
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Having recited the standard, the Court turns to the
Commi ssion’s case. In order to prove a violation of Section
17(a) (1), Section 10(b), and Rule 10b-5, the Comm ssion nust show
t hat Defendants, know ngly or recklessly, engaged in materi al
m srepresentations, material om ssions, or fraud in the sale of
securities. In order to prove a violation of Section 17(a)(2)
and (a)(3), the Comm ssion nust prove that SG&C engaged in the
same course of conduct, but there is no required show ng of
scienter. The SEC argues that Defendants violated these statutes
and regul ations by engaging in cherry picking. However, as the
court will now discuss, the SEC has failed to neet its burden of
proof in this respect.

1. The Commi ssion Produced No Direct Evidence of Cherry Picking

The SEC adduced evidence during the trial that Defendants’
met hod of operations provided Sl ocum and Gordon with the
opportunity to cherry pick profitable client securities for the
firm The firm s bank account structure, its handwitten TE
forms, and the manual controls present in the operations
departnent created an environnent where fraud coul d have
occurred. However, nere opportunity for possible fraud does not
translate into actual wongdoing. The Conm ssion bears the
burden of proof, and nust denonstrate that Defendants actually
engaged in securities violations with specific evidence.

Fromthe outset, the SEC has admtted that its only direct
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evi dence of cherry picking rests entirely on Lippincott’s
testinmony regarding the AHP transaction and the Comm ssion’s

anal ysis of Slocum s reallocated famly trades and short-term

hol dings for certain clients, including fornmer SG&C partner, John
Howard, and his wife. However, as the Court previously noted,

t hat evidence did not prove that cherry picking occurred. Thus,
as the Comm ssion failed to denonstrate cherry picking at S&C

t hrough direct evidence, the Court turns to the circunstanti al

evi dence presented.

2. The Commi ssion’'s Circunstantial Case Fails

At the end of the trial, the Court instructed the
Comm ssi on, who bears the burden of proof in this case, that it
had to denonstrate to the Court that cherry picking occurred at
SG&C t hrough specific exanples. As this witer stated at the
time, the Court is unwilling to go through the record with a fine
tooth conb in an attenpt to prove the Comm ssion’ s case.

However, specific exanples of cherry picking are not
preval ent in the Conmm ssion’s analysis of the evidence. Rather,
t he Comm ssion suggests that this Court should consider every
firmtrade made between 1996 and 2000 “tainted,” and scrutinize
each transaction nethodically to identify certain “suspicious”
patterns in SGC s trading that the SEC argues are indicative of
fraud. To facilitate such an analysis, the Comm ssion provided

the Court with a detailed Appendix to its post-trial menmorandum
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describing every firmtransacti on nade during the rel evant period
and forcing each to fit into its theory that SG&C and its
partners were engaged in wholesale fraud on their clients and the
Conmmi ssi on.

The Conmm ssion argued, both at trial and in its post-trial
subm ssions, that while they had m ninmal direct evidence of
cherry picking, a thorough analysis of SG&C s trades over the
rel evant period revealed certain trends in firmsecurity
pur chases supporting an inference of cherry picking by the
Defendants. In so doing, the Comm ssion focused on trends, or
“patterns” in Slocumand Gordon’s firmtradi ng that they argue,
when taken together, establish an inference of cherry picking by
the Defendants. The Court will now discuss the patterns
Plaintiff has identified.

a. Overlap of Firmand dient Securities

The Conmm ssion argues that the Defendants’ practice of
purchasing a security for the firmand then |ater purchasing the
same security for clients is evidence of cherry picking. The
Commi ssion points to 54 occasi ons where Slocum and Gordon nade
purchases of the sanme security for clients shortly after having
made a purchase for the firm See Plaintiff’s Post Trial
Menorandum at 12, n.7. |In approximtely 29 of these 54
i ncidents, the nunber of shares SG&C chose to purchase for their

clients was identical to the nunber purchased for the firm |d.
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at 7-8, n.8. In many cases, the cost-basis of the security was
hi gher when SG&C purchased it for their clients than when the
firmpurchase was initiated. 1d. at 8  The Conm ssion argues
that this pattern indicates that SG&C had a practice of
reall ocating securities purchased for clients to the firm account
if they went up in value over the three day period between the
trade day and settlenent and then subsequently repurchasing the
sanme securities for their clients later to replace the cherry
pi cked ones.

Def endants counter this argunment by pointing out that both
Sl ocum and Gordon testified that they generally traded in one
“uni verse” of particular securities that they followed on a
regul ar basis, and that both firmand client trades canme from
this same group of securities. In light of this unrebutted
testi nony, one would expect the securities SG&C chose for firm
and client transactions to overlap to sonme degree. [In addition,
Slocum specifically testified that it was his practice in many
cases to purchase a security for the firmto “test the water”
before initiating a client purchase. This testinony is also
unrebutted. Finally, both Slocum and Gordon testified that they
general |y purchased securities for both clients and the firmin
round lots to mnimze comm ssion fees. Thus, the majority of
the stock purchases initiated during the rel evant period were

transactions to purchase a “position” in a security, or several
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t housand shares. According to the investors, this accounts for
the simlarity in the anounts purchased.

Most persuasive, however, was Sl ocum and Gordon’ s testinony
regardi ng specific transactions. In nost cases, Slocum and
Gordon were able to testify to specific events that triggered
their firm purchases, and then explain why, after the events
causi ng the sudden increase in price abated, they |ater
considered the investnent stable and appropriate for clients.
Each transaction Sl ocum and Gordon testified about confornmed with
their stated strategies for both firmand client trading, and the
SEC produced no evidence challenging this testinony.

b. Short-termperformance of Cient Securities and Defendants’

Success Rate

______The Commi ssion al so argues that a conpari son of the
performance of stocks purchased for the firm s tradi ng account
w th stocks purchased for clients denonstrates that SG&C was
engaged in cherry picking. This argunent revolves around

Def endants’ success rate for firmtrades during the rel evant
period. Between 1996 and 2000, SG&C realized a profit on
securities purchased for its firmaccount 98% of the tine.
Exhibit 2. This profit was always realized within the first
three days after Slocumor Gordon initiated a firmtrade, prior
to settlenment. Thus, taking Defendants’ success rate into

consideration, one can infer that the securities S&C purchased
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for the firmincreased in value over the three day period between
trade day and the settlenent date 98% of the tine. However,
according to the Commssion’s analysis of client trades, the
securities that SGC purchased for their clients decreased in

val ue on the day after the trade day approxi mtely 47% of the
time, and as of the close of trading two days after the trade
date, they decreased in value approximately 49% of the tine.
Exhibit 6. The Conm ssion argues that this disparity is evidence
that S&&C i nvestment advisers were allocating the profitable
trades, or “cherries” to the firmand |leaving |less profitable
transaction, or “pits” for their clients. The Comm ssion al so
suggests that SG&C s success rate on firmtrades was inpossible
to achi eve under normal market conditions, and that, therefore,
the Court should conclude that it is the product of cherry

pi cki ng and fraud.

However, the SEC s theory fails to take two factors into
consideration. First, Slocumand Gordon both testified that they
enpl oyed different strategies when trading for clients than when
trading for the firmis account. Their testinony was that they
woul d generally try to buy securities for their clients at a tine
of weakness, and hope to sell these securities in a position of
strength after an extended hol ding period. |ndeed, the testinony
i ndi cated that Sl ocum and Gordon woul d | ook for stocks that they

believed were in a dowmward trend for their clients, hoping to
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purchase a larger position in the security for themat the | owest
possi bl e price, and then hold the security until it regained
moment um and achi eved the desired rate of return. Lippincott
also testified that S&C s client trades that she was invol ved
with during this time period were generally | ong-term hol di ngs
bought on weakness and sold on strength. For firmtrades,
however, Sl ocum and Gordon testified that they | ooked for
securities that they hoped woul d suddenly increase in value due
to market events. The Conm ssion’s statistics, which show client
securities going down in the short-termand firmsecurities going
up, denonstrate this trading strategy in operation.

Second, in arguing that SG&C s success rate was not
achievable legitimtely, the Commssion fails to recogni ze how
successful the SG&C i nvestnent advisers were for their clients
during the relevant period. Between 1996 and 2000, during a
historically well-performng bull market, Sl ocum and Gordon’s
client accounts perfornmed extrenmely well, many achieving a 95%
rate of return. The Comm ssion produced no i ndependent evi dence
of individual client |osses, and no SGC clients testified
against the firm The Defendants were sophisticated, experienced
securities investors who were extrenely successful in all of
their accounts over the relevant tine period. G ven the unusua
mar ket conditions existing at the close of the decade, the Court

is not persuaded that Defendants’ firmtrading success rate was
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i npossible to achieve legitimtely.

C. Limt Oders

The Comm ssion’s | ast trend-based argunent concerns SG&C s
use of limt orders for firmtransactions. During his testinony,
Gordon stated that he typically used limt orders for client
purchases and nmarket orders for firm purchases.!* However, as
t he Comm ssion points out, 80 of the 176 trades placed for the
firmduring the relevant period were placed as Iimt orders,

i ndicating a specific purchase price. See SEC Post Tri al
Menmor andum at 16, n.13. The SEC argues that this is evidence
that Sl ocum and Gordon were initiating security purchases for
their clients and then reallocating themto the firm based on
their performance rate prior to the settlenent date

Def endants counter this argument several ways. First, they
poi nt out that Sl ocum was never asked whether he utilized |imt
or market orders for firmtrades, and that the SEC s nunerica
cal cul ation applies Gordon’s testinony of his personal trading
habits to transactions made by Slocum During the relevant tine

period, Gordon only initiated 62 of the firmtrades at issue, and

1 The Conmission’s argunent is founded in the foll owi ng exchange

from Gordon’s testinony:

Q Didyou use |limt orders to purchase

securities for the firnf

A. Rarely. | can't think of nmany occasions

where that would have occurred, if any.

Q Solimt orders generally were used for

purchase of securities for clients?

A, Correct.
Trial Transcript, 7/22/03, at 50 (CGordon testifying).
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the remai nder were nmade by Slocum See Exhibit C O these 62,
46 included specific price information on the TE formrather than
the abbreviation “MKT.” See Defendants’ Post Trial Menorandum at
24. Defendants suggest that only these 46 trades by Gordon are
subject to the Comm ssion’s “limt order” analysis.

Second, Defendants argue that these trades, although placed
as limt orders in a strict sense, were always intended by Gordon
as firmtransactions. As Defendants point out, Gordon di scussed
nmore than one concept of “limt orders” during his testinony, and
the SEC s anal ysis does not reflect this distinction. 1In
addition to describing a limt order as an order to purchase a
specific security at a specific price, Gordon also testified that
he would utilize limt orders when buying a particular offering
of securities on the market at a particular tinme. 1In such a
situation, the specific price would be known at the tine the
order was placed, because it reflects the price offered for a
particular ot of shares. Gordon described this type of Iimt
order as follows:

[I1]f I"'minterested in a given trade at that

particular noment, | mght say to the broker,
there’s an offering of 20,000 shares there,
know we could fill this order with 10,000 at

the price offered, 30 and-a-quarter, buy it
at that price; that is alimt order, but
it’s also, in essence, buying the offering,
but I’'mlimting himto that price.

* * %
[I]Jt’s a limt order, but in a different
sense. W’re not waiting for the market to
come to us in ternms of the price dropping to
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our limt, we are sinply buying the stock as
it’s offered but with limtations on it.

Trial Transcript, 7/23/03, at 120-21 (Gordon testifying).

The concept of sinply “buying the offering” of a security is
consistent with Gordon’s philosophy for firmtrading. Thus,
Def endants argue that sone of Gordon’s transactions, although
initiated as limt orders, were always intended for the firm

Def endants al so point out that the SEC s desi gnation of
these 46 trades as “limt orders” only refers to the fact that
the TE forns for these trades included a specified price for the
transaction rather than the designation “MKT.” As CGordon
testified, sonmetines he would receive an execution price froma
broker while he was one the tel ephone with himinitiating the
transaction. 1In these situations, the exact price of the order
woul d have been available to Gordon at the tinme he first began to
fill out the TE form In such a situation, there would have been
little need to utilize the abbreviation “MKT” on the TE form as
the price itself was available. The Conm ssion’s argunent does
not account for such a scenario.

Finally, Defendants argue that the Conmission’s |imt order
argunent is flawed because Plaintiff applies it across the board
to every firmtransaction, regardl ess of whether the transaction
was profitable. One exanple of this was a firmtrade of Ford in
2000, see Exhibit D, which the SEC contends was originally placed

as alimt order, and is thus indicative of cherry picking.
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However, this particular trade, although initiated with a
specific price, resulted in a short-termloss for SGC. Cherry
picking a loss defies logic, yet Plaintiff’s analysis yields such
a result.

Def endants contend these exanpl es, which create numnerous
exceptions to the SEC s bl anket analysis, denonstrate the over-
generality of Plaintiff’s argunent. The Court agrees.

3. Irrequl ar TE Forns

The Conmm ssion al so argues that SG&C s net hod of conpleting
their TE fornms is evidence of cherry picking. Specifically, the
SEC suggests that Sl ocumand Gordon’s failure to fill out the TE
forms in their entirety at the tinme a security transaction was
initiated, and their reliance on Shoenmaker, created the
opportunity for the forns to be doctored prior to the settl enent
date. According to the Conmm ssion, this makes every transaction
during the relevant period suspect. O particular interest to
the Comm ssion is the appearance of multiple ink colors and
different fornms of handwiting at different places on the TE
forms. The SEC argues that this ink and handwiting evidence
proves that the forms were not conpleted when the trade was first
initiated, and argues that this is evidence of a cherry picking
schene.

Def endants, however, concede that the fornms were not filled

out at one sitting, and admt that Shoemaker assisted the firm
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partners in conpleting TE forns on a regular basis. The evidence
denonstrates that Sl ocum and Gordon had an established procedure
for filling out the TE forns pieceneal, and that they often
relied on Shoemaker to transfer data fromtheir rough drafts to
the TE forns, enter mssing information on the forns, or, in sone
cases, to conplete the fornms in their entirety. Further,
Shoemaker testified that she had an understanding with Sl ocum and
Gordon that TE fornms submtted to operations w thout a client
list were intended for the firmtradi ng account. Shoemaker al so
testified that she nade sure the TE forns were conpleted and in
her blue folder by the tinme she affirmed the trades on the day
after a trade was placed, or imedi ately thereafter. Once these
forms were conpl eted, they were never renoved from Shoemaker’s
custody or altered in any way, except in isolated cases to
correct errors. \Wien such an error occurred, it was noted
clearly on the TE formitself.

Shoemaker testified that she was unaware of a cherry picking
schenme at SG&C. As Shoemaker was involved with processing the
paperwork on virtually every trade SG&C nade during the rel evant
tinme period, the Court finds that no cherry picking schene coul d
have taken place at SG&C wi t hout her know edge. The Conm ssion
argues that this witer should di scount Shoemaker’s testinony
because she is a long-tinme enpl oyee of S&&C, arguing that her

wor ki ng relationship with the Defendants generates bi as.
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However, the Court does not believe that Shoemaker was a biased

W t ness. Shoenmaker was not a partner at S&C, and did not stand
to profit fromthe funds generated in the firmtradi ng account.
In fact, Shoemaker testified that she did not invest in the stock
mar ket at all. The only possible benefit Shoemaker coul d have
received for her testinony was her salary as an enpl oyee of S&C.
The Court does not find this an adequate incentive for perjury.
Shoenaker’s testinony is uncontroverted, and the Court finds that
she is a credible w tness.

5. Cessation of Firm Tradi ng Does Not Support Cherry Picking

Finally, the SEC suggests that SG&C s decision to stop
pl aci ng short-termtrades for its firmaccount in May 2000
constitutes evidence of cherry picking. The Conm ssion points
out that SG&C stopped engaging in firmtrades only when it knew
that the firmwas under investigation and when it was unable to
mai ntai n conm ngl ed cl earing and custodi al accounts to facilitate
risk free firmtrades. According to the Conm ssion, this
conpl ete cessation of firmtradi ng denonstrates that S&C s
previous firmtrades were tainted with fraud.

Sl ocum and Gordon testified that they stopped trading for
the firmin May 2000 because the bull market of the | ate 1990s
ended, nmaking it a | ess favorable environnent for nonentum
trading. They also testified that they were aware of the SEC s

investigation into their firmtrading account and that they
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stopped all activity in that account until they could be certain
that it was clearly in conpliance with all applicable aws. The
Court finds both explanations reasonabl e.

Because the Comm ssion failed to prove the alleged cherry
pi cki ng schene by a preponderance of the evidence, the Court
finds that the Conm ssion failed to establish a violation of the
Securities Act or the Exchange Act. Therefore, the Court finds
for the Defendants on Counts 1 and 2.

B. Technical Violations

Counts 3, 4, 5, and 6 of the Comm ssion’s Conplaint relate
to the Defendants’ operating practices, account structure, and
duties of disclosure as investnent advisers. Because SG&C was an
i nvestnent advising firmregi stered under the federal Advisers
Act, the firmis subject to the different statutory requirenents
of the Act and all regul ations pronul gated under its auspices.
The Comm ssion argues that Defendants’ style of operations and
its account structure were contrary to these rules and
regul ations. Furthernore, as registered investnent advisers, the
Def endants acted as fiduciaries in their dealings with clients,
and owed their clients an affirmative obligation of “utnpst good

faith and full and fair disclosure.” Capital Gains Research

Bureau, Inc., 375 U S. at 194. The SEC argues that Defendants

breached these duties by withholding material facts fromtheir

clients and t he Conm ssi on.
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Because the Commi ssion argues that Defendants’ conduct
resulted in multiple violations of the Advisers Act, this witer
wi || discuss each potential violation individually.

1. Comm ngling

The Comm ssion’s nost neritorious allegation, concerns the
bank account structure in place at SGC during the relevant tine
period. In Count 4 of its conplaint, the Comm ssion contends
that SG&C s practice of maintaining a single clearing account at
Fl eet and a single custodial account at |BT, then routing both
firmassets and client assets through these accounts
si mul t aneousl y, constituted comm ngling of client and firm funds
in violation of Section 206(4) of the Advisers Act and Rule
206(4)-2(a) thereunder. See 15 U. S.C. 8§ 80b-6(4) (1997); 17
C.F.R § 275.206(4)-2(a)(2) (2003).' The statute and its
acconpanyi ng regul ation, read, in pertinent part, as foll ows:

Section 206(4):

Prohi bited transactions by investnent

advi sers
It shall be unlawful for any investnent
adviser,...directly or indirectly...

(4) to engage in any act, practice, or course
of business which is fraudul ent, deceptive,

or mani pul ative. The Commi ssion shall, for

t he purposes of this paragraph (4) by rules
and regul ati ons define, and prescribe neans
reasonably designed to prevent such acts,

2 Shortly after the trial in this case, the Conm ssion
promul gated a new version of Rule 206(4)-2(a), which becane effective
Novermber 5, 2003. See 17 C.F.R § 275.206(4)-2(a)(2) (2004).
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practices, and courses of business as are
fraudul ent, deceptive, or manipul ative.

15 U.S.C. § 80b-6(4) (1997).

Rul e 206(4)-2(a):
Cust ody or possession of funds or securities
of clients.

(a) It shall constitute a fraudul ent,
deceptive, or manipul ative act, practice or
course of business within the neaning of
section 206(4) of the Act (15 U S.C. 80b-
6(4)) for any investnent adviser registered
or required to be regi stered under section
203 of the Act (15 U S.C. 80b-3) who has
cust ody or possession of any funds or
securities in which any client has any
beneficial interest, to do any act or take
any action, directly or indirectly, with
respect to any such funds or securities,
unl ess:

(1) Al such securities of each such client
are segregated, nmarked to identify the
particul ar client who has the benefici al
interest therein, and held in safekeeping in
sonme place reasonably free fromrisk of
destruction or other |oss; and

(2)(i) Al such funds of such clients are
deposited in one or nore bank accounts which
contain only clients’ funds...

17 C.F.R § 275.206(4)(2)(a) (2003).

Pursuant to Section 206(4) and Rule 206(4)-2(a), investnent
advi sers who have custody of client funds nmust deposit theminto
one or nore bank accounts containing only client funds. Although
the Rul e speaks verbatimof the initial deposit of client funds
into a separate account fromfirmfunds, Rule 206(4)-2(a) has
been interpreted by the Conmm ssion as requiring investnment
advisers to maintain client assets in bank accounts separate and

apart fromthose of the firm and to refrain from comm ngling
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firmand client assets. See SEC v. G acchetto, Lit. Rel. No.

17092, 2001 SEC LEXI S 1572 (Aug. 6, 2001); In the Matter of Vigi

Asset Mgt. G oup, Inc., Advisers Act Rel. No. 1621, 1997 SEC

LEXIS 606 (Mar. 17, 1997). This position has al so been enbraced

by courts evaluating the issue. See SEC v. Steadnman, 967 F.2d

636, 646 (D.C. Cr. 1992) (interpreting Rule 206(4)-2(a)(2) as
requiring investnent advisers to keep and maintain “separate bank
accounts that contain only client funds”). Moreover, scienter is
not required for a violation of Section 206(4). |1d. at 647.

At trial, every witness asked about the account structure at
S&C was forced to admt that both client assets and firm assets
were in the clearing account and the custodial account at the
sane time. Indeed, the commngling in these two accounts is
further denonstrated by Defendants’ Exhibit P, which was
introduced at trial. Exhibit P clearly denonstrates that cash
flowed fromboth the client accounts at Merrill Lynch and the
firms line of credit at Sovereign through the Fleet clearing
account and into the same custodial account, and vice versa.
However, in spite of this testinony, Defendants argue that this
Court should still rule that Defendants’ account structure
satisfied the requirenents of Rule 206(4)-2(a)(2).

First, Defendants argue that SG&C s practices satisfied Rule
206(4)-2(a)(2) because client funds entering the Fleet account

and the | BT account were not “deposited” into these accounts, but
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rather nerely “routed” through these accounts on their way to
eventual |y be used by IBT to purchase client securities.
Simlarly, Defendants argue that after a sale, the client funds
were again nerely “routed” through these accounts en route to the
di fferent individual accounts maintained for clients at Merril
Lynch. Defendants argue that the Rule inposes a “deposit
requirenent” that the SEC is “creatively ignoring” inits
assignnment of a violation. The Court disagrees.

This witer believes that Rule 206(4)-2(a)(2) was intended
to prevent investnent advisers fromcommngling firmand client
assets in any fashion, whether it be for a short period of tine
or an extended period. As the United States Suprene Court

recognized in SEC v. Capital Gains Research Bureau, Inc., the

Advi sers Act was originally established to elimnate certain
abuses in the securities industry, ensuring that “the highest
ethical standards prevail[ed].” 375 U S. at 186. Therein, the
Court al so recogni zed that sound managenent of investnent
accounts by advisers could not be achieved “unless all conflicts
of interest between the investnent counsel and the client were
renmoved.” 1d. at 187. Wether deposited into a single account
or “routed” there, even if only for a short period, conm ngling
client assets with firmassets in any fashion still creates a
prohi bited conflict of interest. Further, this Court is not

persuaded that “routing” is any different in practical bank
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term nol ogy than “depositing,” since both are nerely nethods for

i nfusing a bank account with funds. Here, nultiple w tnesses

wor ki ng at SG&C testified that firmassets and client assets were
commingled in the Fleet and | BT accounts. The Court refuses to
split hairs over term nol ogy, and thus rejects Defendants’

ar gunent .

Second, Defendants argue that even if the Court rules that
“routing” and “depositing” are synonynous, this witer should
still rule that the Comm ssion failed to denonstrate a viol ation
of Rule 206(4)-2(a)(2) because no evidence was produced
denonstrating a specific exanple, or point in tinme, when client
assets and firm assets were comm ngl ed. Defendants argue that in
order to establish this violation, the SEC nust produce
“specific, sinmultaneous transmttals” into the different accounts
of both firmand client assets. However, in so arguing,

Def endants fail to note that their own wtnesses testified that
both client and firmfunds were in the Fleet and | BT accounts at
the sane tinme, and that Exhibit P clearly denonstrates the joint
use of these accounts for both firmand client assets

si mul t aneously. Thus, the Court also rejects this argunent.

Finally, Defendants argue that no liability for a Rule
206(4)-2(a)(2) violation should attach because the SEC tacitly
approved SG&C s account structure on two occasions: first, in

1988, when Gordon wrote his letter explaining the new custodi an
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account structure the firmwas instituting, and the SEC i ssued no
negati ve comentary; and second, when the SEC failed to raise an
i ssue regardi ng the account structure during their 1994
exam nation. Defendants argue that the SEC tacitly consented to
S&C s structure and its reliance on the Gardner and Preston Mss
No- Action Letter by failing to notify SG&C that the account
structure was inappropriate. The Comm ssion counters this
argunment by pointing out that SG&C never requested its own No-
Action Letter fromthe SEC, and none was issued, thus it is not
estopped frombringing this cause of action. |In addition, the
Comm ssion notes that Gordon’s 1988 letter to the SEC, which
descri bes SGC s new custodi al account structure and its reliance
on the Gardner and Preston Moss No-Action Letter, makes no
menti on what soever of firmfunds, and conpletely fails to
di scl ose the fact that funds fromthe firms line of credit would
be routed through the sanme clearing and custodi al accounts
established for clients. See Exhibit 39. Thus, the Comm ssion
argues it was not on notice of S&&C s use of a single clearing
account and a single custodial account for both firmand client
transactions, and did not tacitly approve it.

Here, the Court agrees with the Comm ssion. Because SG&C
failed to request and receive their own No-Action Letter, they
had no assurance fromthe SEC that their new account structure

was conpliant with the Advisers Act. Further, the Court finds no
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evi dence that SG&C affirmatively disclosed their account
commngling to the Comm ssion prior to the 2000 exam nati on.
Gordon’s 1988 letter, entered into evidence as Exhibit 39, makes
no nention of firmtrades being facilitated through the sane
custodi al account instituted for clients. |In addition, although
the 1994 SEC exam nation resulted in no negative comentary on
S&C s account structure, the Court finds no evidence that the
si mul t aneous use of the Fleet and | BT accounts for both firm and
client transactions was disclosed to the SEC at this tine. Wile
Gordon testified that the SEC i nvestigators were “aware” of
S&C s firmtrading in 1994, no evidence has been produced
establishing that the SEC i nvestigators were nade aware of and
t hen approved the comm ngl ed account structure. The nere fact
that S&C s rule violation was not recorded earlier does not
excuse it.

Thus, for the aforenentioned reasons, the Court rul es that
Def endants’ account structure violated Section 206(4) of the
Advi sers Act and Rule 206(4)-2(a)(2)pronul gated thereunder, and

finds in favor of the Conm ssion on Count 4.

2. TE Forns
In Count 5, the Conm ssion argues that Defendants viol ated
Section 204 of the Advisers Act and Rul e 204-2(a)(3)issued

thereunder. See 15 U.S.C. 8§ 80b-4; 17 CF. R 8 275.204-2(a)(3).
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Section 204 requires a registered investnent adviser to “make and
keep” such records “as the Comm ssion, by rule, may prescribe as
necessary or appropriate in the public interest or for the
protection of investors.” 15 U. S.C. 8§ 80b-4. Rule 204-2(a)(3)
requires that every registered investnent adviser “nmake and keep
true, accurate, and current” books and records, including a
“menor andum of each order given by the investnent adviser for the
purchase or sale of any security.” 17 CF. R 8 275.204-2(a)(3).
According to the Rule, this nmenorandum nust include the person
who placed the order, the account for which entered, and the date
of entry. See id. SGC s nethod for generating a “nenorandum of
each order” for a security purchase was the TE forns, which

Sl ocum and Gordon began to fill in as they initiated a purchase
with a broker and then conpleted, either personally, or with the
assi stance of Shoemaker, by the end of the trade day or, at the

| atest, by the next norning (T+1).

The Conmm ssion argues that Defendants violated Section 204
and Rule 204-2(a)(3) by failing to fill in all the required
information on the TE format the nonent that an order was first
initiated with a broker. According to the SEC, because
Def endants’ TE forns were not fully prepared at the tine the
orders were placed, and were sonetines, in the case of firm
trades, intentionally left blank in reliance on an understandi ng

wi th Shoemaker, these forns were not “true, accurate, and
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current” as described in Rule 204-2(a)(3).

Def endants argue that the TE forns utilized by SG&C,
al though not filled in i mediately when an order was first
initiated, were still sufficiently “current” so as to satisfy the
Rule. In so arguing, Defendants cite to testinony from Sl ocum
Gordon, and Shoenmaker that TE fornms were usually conpl eted by the
end of a given trade day, and that in no case was a TE form |l eft
in an inconplete condition past the norning of the day after the
trade was initiated (T+1). Defendants point out that Rule 204-
2(a)(3) says “current,” not contenporaneous, and suggest that
their record-keeping nethods fulfilled this requirenent.

Here, the Court agrees with Defendants that their TE forns,
whi ch included all of the necessary information, were
appropriately filled out and kept by SG&C cl ose enough in tine
with their transactions for the firmis records to be described as
“true, accurate, and current.” The Court is not troubled by the
partners reliance on Shoenaker, a long-tinme enpl oyee and seasoned
Operations Manager, to assist themin filling out the necessary
information on the TE forns, or by the fact that these forns were
conpl eted over the course of a nunber of hours before they
entered the blue folder in the Operations Departnent. The
Commi ssi on produced no evidence at trial to suggest that SG&GC
ever failed to conplete their TE forns within hours, or, at nost,

a day after the trade was placed. Indeed, this witer is
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confident that many offices that remain nmuch |l ess current than
t he operations departnent at SGC, woul d not consider thensel ves
remss in their record-keeping.

Thus, after considering the evidence, the Court concl udes
that S&C did not violate Section 204 of the Advisers Act and
Rul e 204-2(a)(3) promul gated thereunder, and rules in favor of
t he Def endants on Count 5.

3. ADV Forns and SEC Di scl osures

Count 6 of the Conmmi ssion’s Conplaint alleges that
Def endants SG&C and Gordon viol ated Section 207 of the Advisers
Act by willfully making untrue statenents of material fact or
wWllfully omtting material facts fromreports filed with the
SEC. 15 U.S.C. §8 80b-7 (1997). The |anguage of the statute is
as foll ows:
Mat erial m sstatenments
It shall be unlawful for any person
willfully to nake any untrue statenment of a
material fact in any registration application
or report filed with the Conm ssi on under
section 80b-3 or 80b-4 of this title, or
willfully to omt to state in any such
application or report any material fact which
is required to be stated therein.
15 U.S.C. § 80b-7 (1997).
Under Rule 204-1(c), an adviser’s ADV Form and any anmendnent
thereto is deenmed to be a “report” for purposes of Section 207.
See 17 CF.R 8 275.204-1(c). Thus, under Section 207, the

Def endants had a duty to file a copy of their ADV Formw th the
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Comm ssi on each year that was not intentionally false or
m sl eadi ng, and that did not willfully omt material facts
required to be disclosed therein. As the Conm ssion points out,
one of the things the ADV Formrequired S&C to discl ose was
“what restrictions or internal procedures, or disclosures are
used for conflicts of interest in” transactions where the firm
buys and sells for itself the same securities that it reconmends
to clients.

The Comm ssion argues that Defendants viol ated Section 207
by failing to disclose the following information to the
Comm ssion on SG&C s annual ADV Form (1) the conflict of
interest arising from SGC s cherry picking schene; (2) that SGC
was “deferring” allocation of trades until some period after the
trade was placed to facilitate cherry picking; and (3) SGC s
utilization of comm ngled clearing and custodi al accounts for
firmtrades. As Defendants point out, the first two of these
al | eged om ssions are contingent on this Court finding that a
cherry picking schenme existed at SG&C. Because the Court finds
that the Conm ssion failed to neet its burden of proof on the
i ssue of cherry picking, this witer is conpelled to concl ude
that Defendants were not required to disclose unproven cherry
pi cking activities on reports filed with the Conm ssion. Thus,
this argunent fails.

The third itemthe Comm ssion suggests Defendants were
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required to disclose on their filings was their utilization of
comm ngl ed bank accounts in their firmtrades. Plaintiff argues
that S&C s di sclosure el sewhere on the Formthat it was engagi ng
in short-termtrading for the firms benefit was inadequate,
because it failed to reveal the fact that SG&C routed funds for
both these firmtrades and client trades through the sane
accounts. However, in so arguing, the Commssion fails to
establish that Defendants willfully or intentionally omtted the
comm ngl ed account structure fromtheir filings.

The | anguage in the ADV Formthat the SEC argues conpel | ed
this disclosure referred not to bank accounts or to the process
by which S&C facilitated firmtrades, but rather asked
Def endants to disclose the procedures the firmenployed to
address conflicts of interest created by engaging in firmtrading
and client trading sinultaneously. Gordon, who prepared the ADV
Formfor SG&C, testified that he believed SGC s account
structure was in conpliance with the SEC at the tinme. This
assunption was supported by both the two previous SEC
exam nations, which failed to note S&C s account structure as a
problem and the firm s annual surprise exam nation by
i ndependent auditors Deloitte & Touche, which also failed to
identify SG&C s account structure as a questionable practice.
| ndeed, Gordon testified that he believed S&GC s account

structure was based on the Gardner and Preston Mbss No- Action
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Letter issued by the SEC in 1982. See also Exhibits AA and 39.
Gordon’s testinony on these issues was unrebutted by the

Comm ssion, and the Court finds Gordon’s reliance on these
external eval uations reasonabl e.

In light of the foregoing, the Court is not persuaded that
Gordon knew that the SG&C account structure in place at the tinme
viol ated federal securities laws. Thus, the Court cannot
conclude that he intentionally failed to disclose or willfully
omtted this information fromthe firms filings. Wether Gordon
acted with the requisite nental state for his actions to
constitute a violation of the Advisers Act is a question of fact.

Valicenti Advisory Services, Inc. v. SEC 198 F.3d 62, 65 (2d

Cr. 1999). Here, the Court does not find that Gordon
intentionally or wwllfully omtted material facts fromhis SEC
filings. As willfulness is an elenent of a Section 207
violation, see 15 U S.C. 80b-7, the Court concludes that the
Commi ssion failed to neet its burden on this claim and rules in

favor of the Defendants on Count 6.

4. dient D sclosures

The Comm ssion also alleges that SGC viol ated Sections

206(1) and 206(2) of the Advisers Act.'® 15 U.S.C. §§ 80b-6(1)

¥ These all egations are located in Count 3 of the Conm ssion’s
Conpl ai nt .
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and 80b-6(2). Section 206(1) nmakes it unlawful for any

i nvestment adviser, directly or indirectly, to enploy any device,
schene, or artifice to defraud. Section 206(2) prohibits

i nvest ment advi sers fromengaging in any transaction, practice,

or course of business which operates as a fraud or deceit upon
any client or prospective client. The United States Suprene
Court has interpreted Section 206(2) as inposing a fiduciary duty
on investnment advisers, requiring an affirmative obligation of
the utnost good faith, as well as full and fair disclosure of al

material facts to an i nvestnent adviser’s clients. Capital @&ins

Research Bureau, Inc., 375 U S. at 194.

Scienter is required for a Section 206(1) violation, but is

not required for a Section 206(2) violation. Steadman v. SEC

603 F.2d 1126, 1134 (5" Gir. 1979), aff’d, 450 U.S. 91 (1981);

Capital Gins Research Bureau, Inc., 375 U S. at 191-92. Thus,

to denonstrate a Section 206(1) violation, the Comm ssion nust
show that the Defendants willfully or recklessly enployed a
device, artifice, or schene to defraud. However, to establish a
vi ol ation of Section 206(2), the Conm ssion nust show that

Def endants failed to disclose or omtted material facts in their
dealings with clients. As stated previously, a fact is material
if there is a substantial |ikelihood that a reasonabl e investor
woul d consider it inmportant in making his or her decision to buy

or sell a security. Basic, Inc., 485 U S at 231-32; Fife, 311
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F.3d at 9. Potential conflicts of interest are always materi al .

Vernazza v. SEC, 327 F.3d 851, 859 (9'" CGir. 2003); Capital Gains

Research Bureau, Inc., 375 U S. at 201.

At trial, the Comm ssion argued that Defendants’ cherry
pi cking activities constituted a violation of Section 206(1).
Because Section 206(1) requires the Court to find that Defendants
wllfully enployed a device, schene, or artifice to defraud their
clients, in order to neet their burden of proof on this claimthe
Comm ssion had to first prove that a cherry picking schenme
exi sted. Because the Court concludes that the Conm ssion failed
to establish a cherry picking schenme, the Conm ssion’s claim
under Section 206(1) fails as well. Thus, the Court turns to the
SEC s clai munder the second part of the statute, Section 206(2).

The Conmm ssion argues that Defendants violated Section
206(2) by failing to disclose their comm ngl ed account structure
to their clients. Plaintiff’s argunment on this issue revol ves
around the Defendants’ role as fiduciaries. The Conm ssion
argues that the comm ngl ed account structure at SGC created a
potential conflict of interest, and that Defendants’ fiduciary
duty required themto disclose this material fact to their
clients. The Conm ssion al so argues that Defendants’ success
rate for its firmtrades constitutes a material fact, and that
Def endants viol ated Section 206(2) by failing to disclose this

information to their clients. Defendants attenpt to counter
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t hese argunents by claimng that the informati on SG&C rel eased to
clients inits firmbrochure adequately described the short-term
trading programutilized for firmtrades, and that the firms
success rate was not a material fact that they were required to
rel ease to clients.

As stated previously, scienter is not required for a
violation of Section 206(2). The section reads as foll ows:

Prohi bited transacti ons by investnent

advi sers

It shall be unlawful for any investnent
adviser,...directly or indirectly—

* * *

(2) to engage in any transaction, practice,

or course of business which operates as a

fraud or deceit upon any client or

prospective client...
15 U.S.C. § 80b-6(2) (1997).
The United States Suprene Court has interpreted this statute as
requiring investnent advisers to make full and fair disclosure to
their clients of all material facts, including an adviser’s

“personal interests in [his] recommendations to clients.”

Capital &Gins Research Bureau, Inc., 375 U S. at 201. I n

addition, that Court specifically held investnent advisers
responsi ble for disclosing potential conflicts of interest to
their clients, even when there was no intent to defraud on the
part of the advisers, and even when the advisers’ actions did not
result in aloss to their clients. See id. at 200-01.

Di scussing an investnent adviser’s duty to disclose, the Court
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made the foll ow ng observations:

The I nvestnent Advisers Act of 1940 was
‘“directed not only at dishonor, but also at
conduct that tenpts dishonor.’” Failure to
di scl ose material facts nust be deened fraud
or deceit within its intended neaning, for,
as the experience of the 1920's and 1930's
anply reveal s, the darkness and ignorance of
commercial secrecy are the conditions upon
whi ch predatory practices best thrive....The
statute, in recognition of the adviser’s
fiduciary relationship to his clients,
requires that his advice be disinterested.
To insure this it enpowers the courts to
require disclosure of material facts. It

m sconcei ves the purpose of the statute to
confine its application to ‘dishonest’ as
opposed to ‘honest’ notives. As Dean Shul man
said in discussing the nature of securities
transactions, what is required is ‘a picture
not sinply of the show wi ndow, but of the
entire store * * * not sinply truth in the
statenents vol unt eered, but disclosure.’”

Id. at 200-01 (internal citations omtted).

Here, Defendants, in failing to disclose their practice of
routing firmand client assets through the sanme clearing and
custodi al accounts, failed to disclose information to their
clients regarding a potential conflict of interest. Indeed, the
comm ngl ed account structure at SG&C created an environnment where
cherry picking could have occurred to the detrinent of clients.

Al t hough the Court finds that no fraud was proven at trial, the
comm ngl ed account structure still constituted a conflict of
interest that SG&C was required to disclose to its clients. As
fiduciaries, and under the Advisers Act, Defendants were required

to disclose all potential conflicts of interest to their clients.
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See Vernazza, 327 F.3d at 859. Although Gordon testified that he

was unaware that the account structure violated federa
securities laws, he nevertheless admtted at trial that he was
aware that both client and firmassets were in the clearing and
custodial accounts at the sane tinme. The fiduciary duty inposed
on Defendants conpell ed disclosure of this conmngling to firm
clients. Because the Court concludes that SG&C failed to
adequately disclose its comm ngl ed account structure, the Court
finds that it commtted a violation of Section 206(2) of the
Advi sers Act. 15 U.S.C. § 80b-6(2).

The Comm ssion al so argues that SGC s success rate for
trades in the firmaccount constituted a material fact that it
was required to disclose to its clients. Although the Conmm ssion
has denonstrated that disclosing one’s success rate is allowable
under the rules, provided that an investnent adviser does so
W thout creating a false inpression anong his or her clients, see
17 CF.R 8 275.206(4)-1, it has not denonstrated any provisions
requiring such a representation fromS&&C in its brochure or
advertisenments. The evidence showed that SGC attracted nost of
its clients through word-of-nouth advertising. The only physical
advertisenments that were nentioned in the trial testinony were
busi ness card style ads taken out in publications produced by
S&C s organi zational clients, such as the Newport Preservation

Society. None of these advertisenents included information
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regardi ng SGC s success rate for either the firmor clients-
—bot h of which were considerably high. Because SGC nui ntai ned a
hi gh success rate for both its clients and the firmduring the
rel evant period, the Court is not persuaded that SG&C s firm
tradi ng success rate constituted a material fact requiring
di scl osure. Thus, the Court does not find that SG&C was required
to disclose its successes in firmtrading to its clients, and
concludes that this om ssion did not constitute a violation of
Section 206(2).

In light of the foregoing analysis, as to Count 3 of the
Complaint, the Court rules in favor of Plaintiff in part and
Def endants in part. The Court concludes that SG&C was required
to disclose its comm ngled account structure to its clients. See
15 U S.C 8§ 80b-6(2). As it failed to do so, the Court must find
that there was a violation under Section 206(2) of the Advisers
Act. However, since the Court concludes that the Conm ssion
failed to establish that a cherry picking schene existed at SG&C,

no violations of Section 206(1) occurred.

C. A ding and Abetting

Counts 7 and 8 of the Comm ssion’s Conplaint allege that
Def endants Sl ocum and Gordon ai ded and abetted SG&C in its
viol ations of the Advisers Act. In order to establish aiding and

abetting liability, the Comm ssion nust denonstrate: (1) a
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primary or independent securities |law violation by an independent
violator; (2) the aider and abettor’s know ng and substanti al

assi stance to the primary securities |aw violator; and (3)

awar eness or know edge by the aider and abettor that his role was

part of an activity that was inproper. See SEC v. Fehn, 97 F. 3d

1276, 1288 (9" Cir. 1996); Cdeary v. Perfectune, Inc., 700 F. 2d

774, 777 (1%t Gr. 1983). VWhile it is unnecessary to show t hat
an ai der and abettor know he was participating in or contributing
to a securities law violation, there nust be sufficient evidence
to establish “conscious involvenent in inpropriety.” Monsen v.

Consol i dated Dressed Beef Co., 579 F.2d 793, 799 (3d Cr. 1979).

Thi s invol verent nay be denonstrated by proof that the aider or
abettor “had general awareness that his role was part of an

overall activity that [was] inproper.” SEC v. Coffey, 493 F.2d

1304, 1316 (6" Cir. 1974).

As stated previously, before aiding and abetting liability
can attach, there nust be a finding of a primary viol ation of
federal securities |laws by an independent violator. Because the
Court finds that the Conm ssion has failed to neet its burden of
proof as to Counts 1, 2, 5, and 6, no aiding or abetting
l[iability can be assigned on these Counts. The Conmm ssion has
only established technical violations of Sections 206(2) and
206(4) of the Advisers Act, and Defendants’ failure to conply

with Rule 206(4)-2(a)(2). None of these provisions require
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scienter for liability to arise thereunder.
Because the Court finds that neither Sl ocum nor Gordon acted
wth scienter, or a “nental state enbracing intent to deceive,

mani pul ate, or defraud,” Ernst & Ernst, 425 U S. at 193 n.12, the

Court cannot find they had a consci ous awar eness that SG&C was
engaged in operating practices that created a potential conflict
of interest. During the relevant tine period, SGC was subject
to external exam nations fromboth its own i ndependent auditors
and the SEC. Neither authority identified SG&C s account
structure as a potential problem The evidence denonstrated that
when potential conpliance issues were brought to SGC s
attention, Gordon took steps to renedy the situation by

refornmul ating SG&C s practices. The evidence al so showed that

Sl ocum and Gordon communi cated with and relied on the advice of
outside counsel in creating its account structure initially, and
then in reformng it after the SEC s examnation in 1988. No

evi dence suggests that either Sl ocum or Gordon had know edge t hat
S&&C s account structure was inproper, or that their account
structure created a potential conflict of interest.

As a result, the Court is not persuaded that Slocum and
Gordon had the requisite nental state to have aided and abetted
S&C s non-scienter-based violations of Sections 206(2) and
206(4) of the Advisers Act and Rule 206(4)-2(a)(2) issued

t hereunder. Thus, as no aiding and abetting was established, the
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Court rules in favor of Defendants on Counts 7 and 8.

D. Rel i ef Requested

As di scussed herein, the Court has found a violation of
Sections 206(2) and 206(4) of the Advisers Act and Rul e 206(4)-
2(a)(2) issued thereunder. The SEC, has requested that this
Court issue a permanent injunction enjoining Defendants from
engaging in further violations of federal securities |aws. See
15 U.S.C. § 80b-9(d). The |legal standard applied to determ ne
whet her injunctive relief is warranted is whether there is a
reasonabl e |ikelihood that the defendant wll engage in future

violations of the | aw See Steadman, 967 F.2d at 647. | n order

for a court to issue a pernmanent injunction “[t]here nust be
‘some cogni zabl e danger of recurrent violation, sonmething nore
than the nmere possibility which serves to keep the case alive.’”

Id. at 648 (quoting United States v. WT. G ant Co., 345 U S

629, 633 (1953)). Relevant factors to consider when assessing
whet her a future violation is likely are (1) whether the
defendant’s violation was part of a pattern or an isol ated
incident; (2) whether a violation was deliberate or nerely
technical in nature; and (3) whether the defendant’s business
wi |l present opportunities for future violations of the law [Id.

(citing SECv. First Cty Fin. Corp., 890 F.2d 1215, 1228 (D.C.

Cir. 1989)).

Here, after evaluating these factors, the Court opines that
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a permanent injunction against Defendants is unnecessary. Their
only securities violations were non-scienter based, technical
violations. The SEC was unable to denonstrate that Defendants
were aware that their account structure was inproper before the
Comm ssion brought it to their attention in 2000. Wen they were
infornmed of a potential violation, however, S&C, Slocum and
Gordon took every step possible to rectify the situation as

qui ckly as possible. Wthin a matter of nonths, SGC had
voluntarily noved all of its client accounts and its firm account
to Fidelity Investnents. The evidence showed that these accounts
are now conpl etely segregated within Fidelity. As a result of
the nove to Fidelity, SG&C no | onger needed its previous accounts
at Merrill Lynch, Fleet, or IBT. These accounts no |onger exist.
S&C al so discontinued its use of Wanton & Co., its registered
nom nee. All SG&C security transactions now are facilitated

t hrough segregated accounts at Fidelity. Wth the account
structure at S&C fundanental ly restructured through Fidelity,
the Court concludes that the possibility for future conm ngling
viol ations are nonexistent or slimat the very worst.

S&C s other violation concerns its failure to disclose the
potential conflict of interest generated by routing both client
assets and firmassets through the sane clearing and custodi al
accounts. Here, the Court found that SGC had a fiduciary duty

to disclose all potential conflicts of interest to its clients,

94



regardl ess of whether it had an intent to defraud. However, as
the accounts giving rise to this breach no | onger exist, the
Court sees no |ikelihood that Defendants will have the
opportunity to omt this material information in their future
dealings with clients. These violations were not deliberate, and
therefore an injunction is not warranted.

Anot her formof relief the Conmm ssion requests are civil
penal ti es agai nst each Defendant. Section 209(e) of the Advisers
Act authorizes the Court to inpose civil penalties against the
Def endants for their respective violations. 15 U S.C. 8§ 80b-
9(e). Cvil penalties under the Advisers Act are divided into
three possible tiers, each wwth a higher penalty attached to it.
In the First Tier, the anount inposed for each violation “shal
not exceed the greater of (i) $5,000 for a natural person or
$50, 000 for any other person, or (ii) the gross anount of
pecuniary gain to such defendant as a result of the violation.”
15 U.S.C. §8 80b-9(e)(2)(A. The Second Tier inposes higher
penal ties per violation, but may only be invoked if the violation
“invol ved fraud, deceit, manipulation, or a deliberate or
reckl ess disregard of a regulatory requirenent.” 15 U S.C. 8§
80b-9(e)(2)(B). The Third Tier inposes significantly higher
penalties, but only applies if the violation satisfies all the
requi renents for the second tier and, in addition, the Court

concludes that the “violation directly or indirectly resulted in
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substantial |osses or created a significant risk of substanti al

| osses to other persons.” 15 U.S.C. § 80b-9(e)(2)(0O

_____The Comm ssion argues that the Court should apply the third
tier to Defendants’ respective violations, arguing that their
actions were both deliberate and resulted in substantial |osses
to their clients. However, because no | osses were denonstrated,
and because this Court concludes that Defendants’ actions were
not intentional or deliberate, second and third tier penalties
are inappropriate. Rather, the Court will inpose a civil penalty
under the first tier only.

I n assigning the appropriate anount of a civil penalty under
Section 209(e), the Court has discretion to arrive at a figure
within the proscribed limtations “in light of the facts and
circunstances” presented. 15 U.S.C. § 80b-9(e)(2)(A). Here, the
Court has determ ned that SG&C viol ated Sections 206(2) and
206(4) of the Advisers’ Act, and Rule 206(4)-2(a)(2) pronul gated
t hereunder. These clains arise from Counts 3 and 4 of
Plaintiff’s Conplaint, which were all eged agai nst SG&C al one.
Pursuant to the Act, civil penalties are to be assigned per
violation. See 15 U.S.C. § 80b-9(e)(1) (“Wenever it shal
appear to the Conm ssion that any person has viol ated any
provi sion of this subchapter, [or] the rules or regul ations
t hereunder...the court shall have jurisdiction to inpose, upon a

proper showing, a civil penalty to be paid by the person who
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commtted such violation.”).

In light of the evidence presented, the Court inposes a
civil penalty of $1,000 agai nst SG&C for each respective
viol ation. Although one course of conduct resulted in
Def endants’ violation of both Section 206(4) and Rul e 206(4) -
2(a)(2), this witer considers each provision violated, and
i nposes separate civil penalties. Thus, in light of the three
i ndependent viol ations by S&C, the Court inposes a $3,000 civil
penalty on the firmfor its infractions. Because Defendants’
violations were not willful, and as no actual loss to clients
resulted, the Court finds that this nomnal penalty is
appropri ate.

Concl usi on

For the aforenentioned reasons, the Court’s decision is
essentially for the Defendants and only in mnor part for
Plaintiff. As to Counts 1, 2, 5, 6, 7 and 8, the Court finds
that Plaintiff has failed to establish the securities violations
al l eged by a preponderance of the evidence, and thus rules in
favor of Defendants on each of these Counts. Therefore, judgnent
shall enter for Defendants on those counts.

The Court also finds that Plaintiff failed to establish the
first portion of its claimin Count 3, a violation of Section
206(1) of the Advisers’ Act, as this claimrequires scienter so

judgnment shall enter for SG&C on that claim As to the renmai nder
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of Count 3 and Count 4, the Court finds that Plaintiff has net
its burden of proof, and finds for the Conmm ssion as descri bed
herein. In light of these rulings, the Court inposes a civil
penal ty, pursuant to 15 U.S.C. 8§ 80b-9(e), against Defendant SG&C
in the total anount of $3,000. Therefore, judgnent shall enter
for Plaintiff against Defendant Slocum Gordon & Conpany in the
total anmount of $3,000 on the proven clains in Counts 3 and 4.
The O erks shall enter judgenent as indicated forthwth.

It is so ordered.

Ronal d R Lagueux
Senior U S. District Judge
Sept enber , 2004
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